

Economic and Social Council

Distr.: General 30 October 2013

English only

Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights

Fifty-first session
4-29 November 2013
Item 6 (a) of the provisional agenda
Consideration of reports: reports submitted
by States parties in accordance with
articles 16 and 17 of the Covenant

List of issues in relation to the fourth periodic report of Austria

Addendum

Replies of Austria to the list of issues*

[1 October 2013]

In accordance with the information transmitted to States parties regarding the processing of their reports, the present document has not been formally edited.



Contents

		Paragraphs	Page
I.	General information	1–15	3
II.	Issues relating to the general provisions of the Covenant (arts. 1-5)	16-60	5
	Article 2, paragraph 2 – Non-discrimination	16–45	5
	Article 3 – Equal rights of men and women	46-60	11
III.	Issues relating to the specific provisions of the Covenant (arts. 6-15)	61-241	14
	Article 6 – The right to work	61-73	14
	Article 7 – The right to just and favourable conditions of work	74-108	16
	Article 8 – Trade union rights	109-112	23
	Article 9 – The right to social security	113-125	23
	Article 10 – Protection of the family, mothers and children	126-190	26
	Article 11- The right to an adequate standard of living	191-218	37
	Article 12 - The right to physical and mental health	219-233	42
	Articles 13 and 14 – The right to education	234-239	45
	Article 15 – Cultural rights	240-241	46
Ann	exes I to IX		47

I. General information

Reply to the issues raised in paragraph 1 of the list of issues (E/C.12/WG/AUT/Q/4)

- 1. As the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (hereinafter referred to as "ICESCR") was adopted by the National Council subject to certain reservations it is not directly applicable in Austria; it therefore does not create any subjective rights and obligations of individuals. But as pointed out under "General" in the Report of the State Party Austria, the rights granted under the ICESCR may be deemed to have been implemented to a large extent in Austria. The Austrian courts and authorities therefore use the legal bases which concretize ICESCR rights as a foundation of their regular work.
- 2. Within the framework of the basic and further training of judges and public prosecutors, numerous events are offered addressing subjects covered by the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, e.g. laws dealing with legal custody, hospitalization and the protection of home residents as well as issues related to the protection of victims, human trafficking and equal treatment. The seminars are financed by the employer and usually take place once a year with an average of 20 participants.
- 3. The seminars on the "protection of victims" and "human trafficking" described below are used as examples to illustrate the diversity of events offered within the framework of professional training:

Protection of victims

- 4. Various events providing information on how to deal with victims (in particular of sexual violence) are an integral part of basic training. They are organized in cooperation with officially recognized victims' protection facilities and anti-violence centres and cover issues such as the Act on Protection against Violence (Gewaltschutzgesetz) and the respective court injunctions, the Victims' Protection Act (Opferschutzgesetz), the Crime Victims' Act (Verbrechensopfergesetz), training on dealing with traumatized persons as well as legal and psycho-social support of victims during legal proceedings. Numerous events are also offered in further training programmes, providing more in-depth information on issues relating to sexual violence, domestic violence and stalking, practices to deal with victims in civil and criminal procedures, perpetrator profiles, models of assessing dangerousness, victims' rights as well as support during legal proceedings.
- 5. Furthermore, Austrian judges and public prosecutors may participate in numerous international workshops on the aforementioned issues that are offered by the European Judicial Training Network (EJTN) and the Academy of European Law (ERA).

Human trafficking

- 6. Within the framework of basic and further training programmes, judges and public prosecutors are regularly offered events which help raise their awareness of child and human trafficking and facilitate the identification of alleged victims of human trafficking, e.g. the seminar "Trafficking in Human Beings and its Impact on Court Proceedings", the seminar "Trafficking in Human Beings and the Protection of Victims", the conference "Judicial Training on Human Trafficking and Domestic Violence" organized in cooperation with the Council of Europe as well as the seminar "Trafficking in Human Beings New Challenges Faced by the Judiciary in Combating a Global Problem".
- 7. The seminar "Taking action against human trafficking: international strategies and options from the perspective of criminal law" held in cooperation with the association

- "LEFÖ Counselling, Education and Support for Migrants" and the International Organization for Migration (IOM) addressed methods and strategies of investigation into human trafficking and issues such as the protection of victims, support during legal proceedings as well as international cooperation. Besides judiciary experts, the list of speakers also included representatives of the two counselling centres acting as co-hosts as well as the Federal Office of Criminal Investigation (Bundeskriminalamt), Europol and Eurojust so as to facilitate multi-disciplinary exchanges. A follow-up seminar was held, where the above issues were explored from the perspectives of all stakeholders.
- 8. Apart from taking advantage of in-service training programmes of the judiciary, judges and public prosecutors may participate in national and international events focusing on the subject area "human/child trafficking".

Reply to the issues raised in paragraph 2 of the list of issues

- 9. In accordance with the so-called OPCAT Implementing Act (OPCAT-Durchführungsgesetz), the Austrian Ombudsman Board (with its established commissions) was designated as the National Preventive Mechanism under the OPCAT. Since 1 July 2012, the Austrian Ombudsman Board (AOB), or rather its established commissions, has been in charge of inspecting places where persons are deprived of their liberty, including penal institutions. If required, the AOB makes recommendations to the supreme authority responsible. The AOB is advised by a Human Rights Advisory Council in all matters concerning human rights.
- 10. Furthermore, the Act clarifies that the Austrian Ombudsman Board (which observes and reviews the lawfulness of decisions by authorities and looks into possible cases of maladministration) is also responsible for examining alleged human rights violations. [Violations of human rights are regarded as the severest form of maladministration]. The previous ex-post control was integrated into a preventive monitoring and control mechanism in order to guarantee optimal protection of human rights. In 2012 15,649 persons contacted the AOB in its capacity as an ex-post control body. The AOB initiated investigations in 60 per cent of all complaints about acts or omissions by public authorities (7,048 cases). More than one quarter of all investigations launched related to the social sector.
- 11. As of 22 August 2013, the commissions had carried out 427 monitoring and control visits. 217 visits of social institutions had taken place: 65 facilities for the elderly, 37 facilities for persons with disabilities, 60 children's and youth welfare facilities and 55 psychiatric hospitals or departments.
- 12. Acting as the National Preventive Mechanism under the OPCAT, the AOB exercises all essential functions of a National Humans Rights Institution. After its re-accreditation, the AOB in its capacity as the National Human Rights Institution (NHRI) has been represented on the International Coordinating Committee (ICC) of National Human Rights Institutions with B status. Following the constitutional amendments made after the last review, the AOB complies with the Paris Principles regarding the wide scope of its human rights mandate and cooperation with civil society. There is no intention to establish a new National Human Rights Institution since the independent judiciary plays the central role with regard to the protection of human rights in Austria.
- 13. In addition, Austria has three academic human rights institutes performing numerous tasks required under the Paris Principles (e.g. raising public awareness through information and (further) training; assessments; commissioning of research projects): the Ludwig Boltzmann Institute for Human Rights in Vienna, the European Training and Research Centre for Human Rights and Democracy in Graz and the Austrian Institute for Human Rights in Salzburg. These institutes also benefit from public support and public contracts.

Reply to the issues raised in paragraph 3 of the list of issues

- 14. Austria has drawn up National Action Plans covering the following issues, which are continuously evaluated, further developed and reported on:
 - Gender equality in the labour market
 - Combating trafficking in human beings
 - Implementation of United Nations Security Council resolution 1325 (2000)
 - Integration
 - Female genital mutilation (FGM)
 - Persons with disabilities
 - Nutrition
- 15. While there is no intention to replace the existing thematic action plans by a general national action plan, Austria has launched an exchange among the relevant stakeholders to explore in which way an overarching national action plan could complement the existing action plans with a view to strengthening Austria's national system for the promotion and protection of human rights.

II. Issues relating to the general provisions of the Covenant (arts. 1-5)

Article 2, paragraph 2 – Non-discrimination

Reply to the issues raised in paragraph 4 of the list of issues

- 16. The existing anti-discrimination laws are developed on an ongoing basis. By adopting a number of amendments, the substantive law as well as procedural provisions, have been modified to ensure a more effective implementation of the principle of equal treatment. With regard to widening the scope of the Equal Treatment Act concerning gender-related issues, please see the information provided in respect of article 3, reply to the issues raised in paragraph 7 of the list of issues.
- 17. At the recent Experts' Talks 2012/2013 a discussion was held on widening the scope of the Equal Treatment Act to include the characteristics of age, religion or belief as well as sexual orientation with regard to the access to and supply of goods and services. No agreement was, however, reached at a political level.
- 18. Basically, reference may also be made to the information provided in Austria's State Party report on the CRPD, article 5 "Equality and Non-Discrimination", in particular paragraphs. 50 and 51 (see also http://www.ohchr.org/EN/HRBodies/CRPD/Pages/Session10.aspx):
 - "50. On 1 January 2006, the so-called "Disability Equality Package" came into effect. The ban on disability-related discrimination which is regulated by the package was a milestone in Austrian disability policy. The package contains in particular:
 - (a) The Federal Disability Equality Act (ban on discrimination in everyday life);
- (b) A comprehensive amendment of the Disability Employment Act (ban on discrimination in employment);
- (c) An amendment to the Federal Disability Act (Federal Disability Ombudsperson).

- 51. Due to reasons related to the distribution of competences, the protection against discrimination afforded under this Disability Equality Package covers only the spheres of responsibility of the federal government. Within their remit, the federal provinces have enshrined safeguards regarding the protection against discrimination in employment and occupation. Several federal provinces such as Carinthia, Upper Austria, Lower Austria, Tyrol, Vorarlberg and Vienna have additionally adopted anti-discrimination laws."
- 19. For more detailed information regarding the Federal Disability Equality Act (Bundes-Behindertengleichstellungsgesetz/BGStG) please refer to article 27, paragraph 293 of Austria's State party report on the CRPD:

"Protection against discrimination and harassment at work is an important part of anti-discrimination legislation for people with disabilities. The essential point is that nobody may be directly or indirectly discriminated against in employment because of a disability. This protection stretches from job applications to ending a job, and covers pay rates, initial and further training, re-training and careers issues. The assertion of claims in court has to be preceded by obligatory conciliation proceedings at the Federal Social Office."

20. Insofar as they are responsible for this, a uniform level of protection has been ensured in almost all federal provinces (with the exception of Lower Austria).

Examples of laws at provincial level

- 21. The Anti-Discrimination Act of Carinthia (Kärntner Antidiskriminierungsgesetz/K-ADG), Provincial Law Gazette No. 63/2004, as amended in Provincial Law Gazette No. 18/2013, provides for a comprehensive ban on discrimination "in other areas", i.e. in matters not restricted to a specific group of persons and provided that the matter does not fall within the regulatory competence of the Federal Republic of Austria (compare Section 11, para. 1 of the K-ADG) or that other legal provisions do not take precedence (Section 11, para. 2 of the K-ADG).
- 22. An Anti-Discrimination Centre has been set up within the Office of the Carinthian Provincial Government to implement the prohibition of discrimination pursuant to Section 12 as well as to promote, analyse, monitor and support the implementation of equal treatment on grounds of ethnicity, religion or belief, disability, age, sexual orientation or gender (compare Section 32 and Section 33 of the K-ADG).
- 23. The Anti-Discrimination Act of Vorarlberg (Vorarlberger Antidiskriminierungsgesetz) ensures a uniform level of protection against all types of discrimination. In the wake of the Amendment of the Anti-Discrimination Act in 2012, changes included the scope of protection against discrimination being widened to include cases of discrimination by association.

Reply to the issues raised in paragraph 5 of the list of issues

- 24. By way of introduction, it should be mentioned that in conformity with the principle of "freedom of declaring oneself a member of an ethnic minority" ("Bekenntnisfreiheit"; compare Section 1, para. 3 of the Ethnic Groups Act (Volksgruppengesetz) and the Framework Agreement on the Protection of National Minorities (Rahmen-übereinkommen zum Schutz nationaler Minderheiten) persons are not assigned to ethnic groups in Austria. See also explanations provided in respect of Issue 28.
- 25. The Austrian autochthonous minorities (ethnic groups), i.e. the (Burgenland) Croats, the Slovene, Hungarian, Czech and Slovak ethnic groups are, in general, integrated indiscriminately into the remaining population. Measures to support integration are,

however, still necessary in respect of the ethnic group of the Roma, in particular in the areas of education and training.

- 26. After the last census conducted in line with established practices in 2001, the Federal Chancellery commissioned the study (including evaluation) "Languages of Everyday Life and Social Structure" ("Umgangssprache und die Sozialstruktur"). Confirming the successful integration of the speakers of the languages of the Croatian, Slovene, Hungarian, Czech and Slovak ethnic groups, the findings of the study may be summed up as follows: "Today the autochthonous ethnic groups are... a minority in number but they are certainly no longer a minority in the socio-economic system as this concept is also defined by power and prosperity gaps. They even tend to occupy an elitist position in this system."
- This study also came to the conclusion that it was practically impossible to count and identify the Austrian Roma based on the question in the 2001 Census that referred to the use of language (4,300 Austrians stated that they used the Romany language as their language of everyday life in the 2001 Census; however, "Romany" was in many cases confused with "Romanian"); outside Burgenland, the number of answers stating that Romany was used as the language of everyday life was statistically insignificant. Thus the 2001 Census regrettably did not provide any useful data on the share of Roma in the Austrian population that were fit for evaluation. As a result, other research methodologies were explored, in particular in the context of the Austrian Roma Strategy (adopted in conformity with the EU Framework for National Roma Integration Strategies for the period up to 2020). Recent studies were therefore conducted by using methodologies applied in the social sciences, e.g. the study of the Federal Ministry of Labour, Social Affairs and Consumer Protection on "Roma in the Labour Market" ("Roma am Arbeitsmarkt"). A study analysing conditions that support and obstruct educational careers is currently being conducted by researchers together with Roma interviewers. It will provide a basis for developing important approaches for future Roma integration policies.
- 28. Austria answered the question whether the Jenische are an autochthonous ethnic group of Austria covered by the Ethnic Groups Act in the negative as the Jenische lack an independent settlement area and do not represent a sufficiently large community-based ethnic group speaking a common language which is sufficiently distinctive from other languages. This approach seems to be in line with the currently prevailing international position.
- 29. The Ethnic Groups Act stipulates that Advisory Boards on Ethnic Groups shall be set up to provide advice to the federal government and federal ministers on matters concerning the ethnic groups. They shall be responsible for safeguarding and representing the overall cultural, social and economic interests of the ethnic groups. The Advisory Boards on Ethnic Groups shall be consulted in particular before legislation is adopted as well as with regard to the general planning of funding schemes affecting the interests of the Austrian ethnic groups. They may also submit proposals to improve the situation of the ethnic groups and their members. The appointment of the members of the six Advisory Boards on Ethnic Groups is decided by the federal government. The provincial governments may also request the advice of the Advisory Boards on Ethnic Groups. A representative of the respective Provincial Government's Office will usually participate in the meetings of the Advisory Board on Ethnic Groups.
- 30. As far as the six ethnic minorities that are currently officially recognized ("ethnic groups" within the meaning of the Ethnic Groups Act) are concerned, a well-developed, specific public school system is in place for the Croatian and Hungarian autochthonous minorities in Burgenland and the Slovenian autochthonous minority in Carinthia. Specific school education at private level but with considerable financial support by the State is available for the Czech, and to a minor extent also for the Slovak ethnic group in Vienna.

Education is offered in the respective languages and may be completed with a school-leaving certificate of a higher secondary school (A-level exam). Moreover, the law provides for a specific school for the ethnic group of the Roma in Burgenland.

- 31. Current statistical data on the respective school systems which are also disaggregated by sex are not yet available but will be submitted in November at the latest.
- 32. The involvement of the ethnic groups in developing the school system and educational policies is ensured by the Advisory Boards on Ethnic Groups set up under the Ethnic Groups Act. They provide advisory services to the federal government and the provincial governments in these matters too, as has been the case on various occasions in the past.
- 33. Regarding the non-autochthonous ethnic minorities, compare answer to the issues raised in paragraph 29 of the list of issues.

Examples from the federal provinces

- 34. Basic statistical data on the composition of the resident population of Vienna disaggregated by origin (country of birth, nationality, migration background) are provided in the Statistical Yearbook of the City of Vienna (available for download: http://www.wien.gv.at/statistik/pdf/menschen12.pdf, tables 5.2.7 to 5.2.9 on pp. 67-69).
- 35. Since 2008 the City of Vienna has been trying to monitor the social position of Vienna's immigrants not only based on their foreign nationality but also on their so-called "migration background" (persons born abroad or with at least one parent born abroad). The migration background is also used as a basis for Vienna's efforts to monitor the population's socio-economic position in all spheres of life and to identify social obstacles as well as measures necessary to grant equal access, opportunities and rights regardless of the socio-cultural, ethnic origin and/or background. The monitoring process analyses the integration status of society and the status of diversity management achieved within the different departments of the municipal administration and affiliated organizations in nine areas of life. These nine areas are identical with key task areas of local policies. The nine topics of the 2nd Vienna Integration and Diversity Monitoring System are as follows:
 - Equality & participation
 - Education, further education & training
 - Employment & labour market
 - Income & social security
 - Health care & care of the elderly
 - Housing
 - Infrastructure
 - Culture & leisure
 - Public space, neighbourly living & social climate
- 36. Multi-lingual children are supported by co-teachers and teachers who are native speakers of the respective language (partly by using team teaching) at schools in Vienna. Their learning processes are also facilitated through specific educational programmes:
- 37. In the current academic year 2012/13, 4 teachers (3 teachers for mother-tongue education and 1 teacher for mathematics and mother-tongue education) are active within the sphere of responsibility of the Vienna School Board. They teach Romany and support

strategies to facilitate bicultural processes resulting from the specific socialization conditions of migration as well as the cultural and socio-economic environment.

- 38. Roma children are offered remedial lessons in their mother tongue Romany at several primary schools, cooperative middle schools and a centre for special education in several districts of Vienna. In cooperation with the Centre for Language Promotion of the Vienna School Board (Sprachförderzentrum des Stadtschulrates für Wien/ SFZ), the following concepts were developed:
 - A training concept for learning assistants in 2011. Training was organized and implemented by the SFZ in cooperation with Romano Centro.
 - With the support of the SFZ, a Romany mother-tongue teacher conducted a multilingual project within the framework of Kulturkontakt Austria; she received funding for realizing the musical "Sunshine is the Same Everywhere" ("Die Sonne scheint überall gleich").
 - In cooperation with the Department of Education of the University of Vienna, the multi-lateral EU project "Teacher In-Service Training for Roma Inclusion" (INSETRom) was realized in cooperation with teachers at primary schools in Vienna from December 2007 to December 2009. The aim of the project was to develop curriculum modules for teacher in-service training focusing on the educational situation of Roma pupils and cooperation between the school system and the Roma community with a view to achieving improvements in this area. The project has been implemented very successfully.
- It has been an integral part of the funding policy of the City of Vienna to provide financial support for intercultural activities. In 2012 195 intercultural institutions were supported with a budget framework of € 655,900.00. The following institutions may be cited as examples: the Hungarian associations "Bela Bartok International Music Association" ("Bela Bartok Internationaler Musikverein"), "Napraforgok - Association Promoting Hungarian Folk Dance and Folk Music in Vienna" ("Naparforgok - Verein zur Förderung von ungarischen Volkstanz und Volksmusik in Wien") and "Vienna's Hungarian Cultural Association Délibáb" ("Wiener Ungarischer Kulturverein Délibáb"), the Croatian associations "Austrian-Croatian Society" ("Österreichisch-Kroatische Gesellschaft"), "Austrian-Croatian Federation of Education, Culture and Social Affairs - Anno 93" ("Österreichisch-Kroatischer Dachverein für Bildung, Kultur und Soziales"), "Association for the Promotion of Croatian Music" ("Verein zur Förderung der kroatischen Musik") and "Hrvatski centar za kulturu, naobrazbu i politiku / Croatian Centre for Culture, Education and Politics" ("Kroatisches Zentrum für Kultur, Bildung und Politik"), the Roma associations "Football Club Roma" ("Fußballclub Roma") and "Gipsy Music Association" as well as other intercultural associations such as the "Initiative for Minorities -Association Promoting the Co-Existence of Minorities and Majorities" ("Initiative Minderheiten - Verein zur Färderung des Zusammenlebens von Minderheiten und Mehrheiten"), "Balkan Fever Festival", "Federation of All Austrian-Foreign Societies/PaN" ("Dachverband aller österreichisch-ausländischen Gesellschaften/PaN"), "Federation of Intercultural Initiatives in Vienna" ("Dachverband für interkulturelle Initiativen in Wien -Interkulti-Dach"), "Viennese-Cracowian Cultural Society" ("Wiener Krakauer Kultur Gesellschaft"), "Federation of Kurd Associations in Austria - Feykom ("Verband von kurdischen Vereinen in Österreich"), Cultural and Sport Association of Mesopotamia ("Mesopotamien Kultur- und Sportverein"), "Cultural Association (Kulturverein) KlezMORE Festival Vienna", "Istanbul Cultural Association in Vienna" ("Istanbul Kulturverein in Wien"), "Federation of Serbian Associations in Vienna ("Dachverband für serbische Vereine in Wien") - Zajednica Srpskih Klubova u Becu" and "Federation of Alevi Youth in Austria ("Bund der alevitischen Jugendlichen in Österreich")/ Avusturya Alevi Genclik Toplulugu".

- 40. Moreover, the "Cultural Association of Austrian Roma Documentation and Information Centre" ("Kulturverein österreichischer Roma Dokumentations- und Informationszentrum"), "Stones of Remembrance of Jewish Victims of the Holocaust" ("Steine der Erinnerung an jüdische Opfer des Holocausts"), "Romano Centro Association for Roma ("Verein für Roma") and the "Institute for Artistic, Migrant and Academic Research ("Institut für künstlerische, migrantische und wissenschaftliche Forschung") received subsidies totaling € 202,000.00 based on resolutions of Vienna's Municipal Council.
- 41. Since 2005 the Department of Culture of the City of Vienna has provided funding for the "Research Centre for the History of Minorities" ("Forschungszentrum für historische Minderheiten" (http://www.fzhm.at). The purpose of this association is to study migration movements from a historical perspective, focusing on the history of the Czech and Slovak minorities in Vienna.
- 42. In Vorarlberg integration policy has been guided by the integration model "Shaping the Future Together" ("Gemeinsam Zukunft gestalten") adopted by the provincial government ("Landtag"). All relevant groups of society and consequently also minorities are involved in developing and implementing the respective measures. The aforementioned integration model "Shaping the Future Together" is available to be downloaded from the website: www.vorarlberg.at/integration.

Reply to the issues raised in paragraph 6 of the list of issues

43. Regarding the question on the budget allocated to the "National Action Plan on Disability" (NAP Disability), see the information provided in item 1.1.1, last paragraph (http://www.bmask.gv.at/cms/site/attachments/7/7/8/CH2477/CMS1332494355998/nap_be hinderung-web_2013-01-30_eng.pdf):

"The measures listed in the NAP have already been included in the budgets of the respective ministries for 2012. The measures which have to be funded from future federal budgets have to be budgeted for according to the financial situation in the individual ministries. The ministries responsible for the respective measures have to make corresponding provisions for this spending in their budgets. The budgets of the Länder are not encumbered by the NAP on Disability, because an action plan of the part of the Federation cannot create obligations for the Länder."

- 44. Regarding the question on indicators, it should be mentioned that the NAP on Disability lists 250 measures used to monitor progress in implementing the NAP on an ongoing basis. New indicators are being developed within the framework of the Monitoring Group for the NAP on Disability.
- 45. Regarding the question on participation, please see the information provided in article 4 "General obligations", paragraph 46 as well as paragraph 4, "Participation and consultation of persons with disabilities", and in particular paragraph 24 of the report of Austria on the CRPD:

"Article 4: General obligations

(para. 46) The umbrella association of the Austrian disability organizations, ÖAR, is involved in the assessment procedure. The ÖAR is also represented in important committees in the Ministry of Social Affairs (BMASK): in the Federal Disability Advisory Board, which has an advisory function in all fundamental issues related to disability policy, in the Working Group on Long-term Care, which issues recommendations and proposals on the further development of long-term care, and in the Advisory Board of the Compensation Tax Fund, which deals with questions of occupational rehabilitation. The ÖAR is also represented in the advisory councils

established at the individual social insurance institutions, where it represents the interests of long-term care allowance recipients and recipients of work accident pensions."

"Ad para 4 - Participation and consultation of persons with disabilities

(para 24) Regarding the issue of involving civil society, paragraph 46 of the State report explains that – apart from large organisations for persons with disabilities such as the Federation of Austrian Disability Associations (ÖAR) –smaller NGOs advocating the rights of persons with disabilities are also involved to an increasing extent in all discussions and deliberations. The range of participation and consultation covers deliberations and talks on forthcoming changes of legislation (e.g. the talks of the Federal Ministry of Justice with representatives of persons with disabilities about amendments of the insurance contract law in 2011 and 2012), involvement in the review processes of bills, strategic planning as well as the appointment of representatives of persons with disabilities in working, decision making and monitoring groups as well as advisory, surveillance and supervisory bodies. In the process of preparing the State report on the implementation of the CRPD (2010) as well as in developing the NAP on Disability (2011/2012), Austria paid due regard to the involvement of representatives of persons with disabilities, in particular by organizing several working meetings and information events."

Article 3 – Equal rights of men and women

Reply to the issues raised in paragraph 7 of the list of issues

46. The main purpose of the Amendment of the Equal Treatment Act and the Act on the Equal Treatment Commission and the Ombud for Equal Treatment, Federal Law Gazette I No. 98/2008, which came into force on 1 August 2008, was to implement Council Directive 2004/113/EC of 13 December 2004. The scope of the Equal Treatment Act was expanded to prohibit any kind of discrimination on grounds of gender in the access to and supply of goods and services available to the public, including housing. The organizational structure of the Equal Treatment Commission was adjusted accordingly.

Examples from the federal provinces

- 47. The Anti-Discrimination Act of Carinthia (Kärntner Antidiskriminierungsgesetz) prohibits insofar as the federal province has adequate legislative powers any discrimination against an individual on grounds of ethnicity, religion or belief, disability, age or sexual orientation in connection with employment or training relationships with the federal province, a municipality and an association of municipalities (Section 5 of the K-ADG) as well as any discrimination of an individual on grounds of ethnicity, religion or belief, disability, age, sexual orientation or gender in "other areas" as well as in the areas covered by article 12, paragraph 1, sub-paragraphs 1 to 5 of the Federal Constitution Act (Section 28 of the K ADG).
- 48. The Anti-Discrimination Act of Vorarlberg (Vorarlberger Antidiskriminierungsgesetz) does not only prohibit discrimination against women in employment and occupation but also discrimination in the areas of social protection (including social security and healthcare services), social benefits, education as well as access to and supply of goods and services available to the public, including housing.

Reply to the issues raised in paragraph 8 of the list of issues

49. Regarding the political representation of women and men, please see annex I.

50. As of 1 July 2013 the share of women working for the judiciary (as a whole) reached an all-time high, i.e. 53.5 per cent. Peak levels of female employment were achieved among judges (53.8 per cent), public prosecutors (52.2 per cent) and in the higher civil service (62.7 per cent).

Target values for women in the highest salary brackets (management positions) in the Federal Civil Service

- 51. The central HRM body set up within the Federal Chancellery has defined unified standards in order to measure the percentage of women in "high grade groups" (highest salary brackets) within the different qualification-based pay schemes at federal level. This method allows an efficient, meaningful assessment of the extent to which female staff members have had managerial responsibilities in the federal government over time. The aim of this process was to cover all occupational groups (administrative staff, police, teachers, judges and prosecutors, nurses and school inspectors) in order to focus on the federal civil service as a whole.
- 52. Four indicators have been defined to identify persons in higher-grade posts:

Women in the highest salary brackets (all federal staff)

Level of	Salary bracket	Proportion of women						
qualification	and function	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012
University degree (I)	A1/7-9 and similar (e.g. directors-general, directors, heads of large subordinate bodies)	15.8%	18.1%	19.1%	21.3%	20.9%	23.2%	24.0%
University degree (II)	A1/4-6 and similar (e.g. heads of unit, deputy heads of unit, heads of departments, heads of relatively large							35.1%
	subordinate bodies)	29.8%	30.3%	31.3%	32.7%	33.6%	34.9%	33.1%

	Proportion of women							
Upper secondary school leaving certificate	A2/5-8 and similar (i.e. heads of departments, heads of mediumsized and small subordinate bodies, desk officers in higher-grade							28.3%
Intermediate vocational qualifications	posts) A3/5-8 and similar (i.e. desk officers in highergrade posts)				26.2% 31.4%			33.3%

University degree I = top management University degree II = middle management

- 53. Based on these four indicators, each ministry defines targets for the percentage of women in each category (university degree I, university II, upper secondary school leaving certificate, intermediate vocation qualifications). These targets are not legally binding for the ministries, but represent a clear commitment to increase the percentage of women in managerial positions. The individual ministries set new targets every second year to promote positive developments. For detailed statistics, please see annex IA.
- 54. The central HRM body compares the target values with the actual values achieved on an annual basis. The ministers and the public are informed about the developments in this field.

Examples concerning provincial legislative bodies

- 55. Salzburg: 15 out of 36 (about 41 per cent) members of the provincial parliament ("Landtag") are female. Both the President of the provincial parliament and her deputy are women. Moreover, there is one woman chairperson of a parliamentary group. Women act as chairpersons in three out of 10 committees.
- 56. 49 per cent of employees in the Upper Austrian administration are women. Women hold 15 per cent of the top management positions and represent 26 per cent of middle management (including experts' positions). The provincial government of Upper Austria has 56 members, of whom 25 are women, including the second president (deputy speaker).

Vienna

57. The city council (which is also the legislative assembly of this federal province) has 100 members; 34 of them are female, 66 male. The provincial parliament has one female president and two male presidents. Vienna has 23 districts with one district council each. These 23 district councils have a total of 460 female members and 652 male members. Each district has one district chairperson and two deputy district chairpersons. There are 10 female and 13 male district chairpersons, along with 14 female and 32 male district deputy chairpersons. The provincial government consists of 13 members, of whom 6 are female. Women holding leadership positions in the City of Vienna (civil servants) accounted for 50.78 per cent as of 1 January 2013.

- 58. Executive positions of women in the provincial administration of Vorarlberg:
 - In 2008: 8.3 per cent women (14 women and 155 men)
 - In 2009: 9.2 per cent women (16 women and 157 men)
 - In 2010: 8.2 per cent women (14 women and 156 men)
 - In 2011: 9.9 per cent women (17 women and 154 men)
 - In 2012: 10 per cent women (17 women and 153 men)

Private sector

- 59. Women accounted for 13.5 per cent of the supervisory board members and 5.6 per cent of all management board members (or general management members) in the 200 Austrian private enterprises with the highest turnover in February 2013.
- 60. In 2008 the share of women represented on the supervisory boards of state-controlled companies was 16.1 per cent, and they held 11.6 per cent of the positions in management boards (or in top management). The Austrian federal government adopted a concrete women's quota for the supervisory boards of state-controlled companies. In accordance with this staged plan, the share of women on supervisory boards appointed by the federal government has to be increased to 25 per cent by 2013 and to 35 per cent by 2018. The goal of 25 per cent had already been reached in 2011; the percentage climbed to 33 per cent in 2012.

III. Issues relating to the specific provisions of the Covenant (arts. 6-15)

Article 6 – The right to work

Reply to the issues raised in paragraph 9 of the list of issues

- 61. Seasonal work comprises a wide field of activities not only in the tourism sector but also in agriculture and forestry. Seasonal work is admissible for up to twelve months within a period of fourteen months. Due to the large number of vacancies in these sectors, employment opportunities open up for asylum seekers. Moreover, asylum seekers are explicitly given preferential treatment over other third-country nationals as far as the access to seasonal quotas is concerned.
- 62. Employment opportunities for asylum seekers beyond seasonal work may be summarised as follows: They enjoy free access to unskilled jobs in reception homes or centres (e.g. cleaning, maintenance and kitchen service) and to short-term activities for municipal or regional authorities, e.g. maintenance of parks or sports facilities. Another important step towards the labour market inclusion of asylum seekers was taken in mid-2012. The admission of juvenile asylum seekers to vocational training and work in sectors seeking apprentices has been facilitated. Since March 2013 young asylum seekers up to the age of 25 have also benefitted from this measure, which allows young asylum seekers to increase their competitiveness in the labour market.
- 63. It should also be noted that the enforcement of labour rights and the fight against labour exploitation was further improved in the wake of the Act Combating Wage and Social Dumping (Lohn- und Sozialdumping-Bekämpfungsgesetz/LSDB-G) in May 2011 when the authorities introduced an increasing number of effective control measures. Moreover, information and support tools have been made available to foreign workers (including asylum seekers).

General remarks on the LSDB-G

- 64. The Act Combating Wage and Social Dumping established a legal basis in Austria for controlling wages and sanctioning inadequate pay through administrative fines. Previously, employees could only file claims for compensation with the labour and social court.
- 65. The most important goal of the Act is a "generally preventive effect" to ensure that foreign and domestic employers comply with wage regulations in Austria and that employees receive pay based on Austrian minimum standards. Due to severe sanctions, numerous controls and requests, positive effects have been observed. In most cases foreign companies also comply with Austrian wage regulations.
- 66. The Construction Site Database of the Construction Workers' Annual Leave and Severance Pay Fund (Bauarbeiter- Urlaubs- und Abfertigungskasse/BUAK) and Labour Inspectorate (Arbeitsinspektion) has been available since 1 April 2012. Including all current construction sites across Austria, this database facilitates inspections. The BUAK inspectors are allowed to perform inspections during weekends as well.
- 67. Besides the inspections performed on an ongoing basis by the Financial Police and BUAK, joint inspections were conducted, in which employees of the regional health insurance institutions (Gebietskrankenkassen/GKK), the Financial Police as well as the Labour Inspectorate participated. Inspections cover the following::

Duty to make available wage-related documents

68. Foreign employers in Austria are obliged to make wage-related documents necessary for fixing pay available in German. Besides the employment contract and the terms and conditions of employment ("Dienstzettel"), these wage-related documents include in particular records on working time and wages or evidence of wage payments (e.g. bank transfer slips).

Checking basic wages

- 69. The Competence Centre for Combating Wage and Social Dumping (Kompetenzzentrum Lohn- und Sozialdumping Bekämpfung) set up within the Regional Health Insurance Institution for Vienna is in charge of checking the basic wage payable to an employee posted to Austria (by a temporary work agency); the Financial Police is responsible for verifying the facts in situ.
- 70. If the Competence Centre for Combating Wage and Social Dumping becomes aware that pay is below the basic wage, it must bring charges against the employer. If pay is only insignificantly below the basic wage and the total outstanding wage is paid, no charges will be brought.
- 71. The basic wage of employees working for Austrian employers is checked by the health insurance institution. If in the course of carrying out its activities it becomes aware of the fact that basic wage requirements are not being met, the health insurance institution is obliged to bring charges against the respective employer.
- 72. Besides the Competence Centre for Combating Wage and Social Dumping and the respective health insurance institution, BUAK may also check whether basic wage requirements are being met and bring charges in the event of non-compliance.
- 73. Data on past inspections and sanctions for July/August 2013, is set out below:
 - To date, BUAK has conducted wage checks at 9,227 construction sites in 14,282 companies (including 2,072 foreign companies) and with more than 54,208 workers.

- To date, the Financial Police has carried out inspections in more than 62,861 enterprises (including 1,626 companies posting employees and temporary work agencies) with more than 151,683 employees (including 78,460 employees from abroad); however, these checks did not only cover non-compliance with minimum pay requirements but also other responsibilities of the Financial Police (e.g. tax inspection, combat against tax fraud, illegal employment).
- Cases of alleged non-compliance with minimum pay requirements were reported in the case of 979 companies, affecting 4,066 employees – including 518 foreign companies and 2,938 foreign employees.
- To date, charges have been brought for non-compliance with minimum wage requirements in 492 cases including 326 cases affecting foreign companies. The total volume of charges brought for inadequate pay amounted to € 11,489,550. Fines imposed on employers totalled € 3,978,950; 119 administrative decisions (with a total volume of fines of € 2,112,350) have become legally effective. 108 administrative decisions with a total volume of fines amounting to € 1,866,600 have not yet come into effect.
- 179 fines with binding effect were imposed on enterprises for not making wage documents available; 12 fines with binding effect were imposed on employers for refusing the right to inspect wage documents (fines totalling € 199,420).
- 5 fines with binding effect were imposed in 5 cases for circumventing inspections by the Financial Police (fines totalling € 5,350).
- Enforceable decisions prohibiting companies to provide services in Austria were issued in 10 cases.

Article 7 – The right to just and favourable conditions of work

Reply to the issues raised in paragraph 10 of the list of issues

- 74. In Austria labour market participation of women (aged 20 to 64) exceeds the EU average: 69.6 per cent (vs. 62.3 per cent); the participation rate of men is 80.8 per cent. With the exception of 2009, active employment of females rose each year between 2001 and 2012, recording an overall increase by 14.3 percentage points. The rate of part-time employment among women (aged 15 plus) is still relatively high at 44.0 per cent (men: 8.9 per cent). As part-time work for women has become a structural characteristic of the Austrian labour market, the issue of quality of employment is decisive in the context of economic growth, employment and the position of women in the labour market.
- 75. The (unadjusted) gender pay gap in terms of gross hourly earnings in the private sector came to 23.7 per cent in 2011. The unadjusted gender pay gap by sector ranges from 7.3 per cent in the transportation and storage sector to 34 per cent in professional, scientific and technical activities as well as arts, entertainment and recreation. The gender pay gap (based on average gross income of full-time employees) is lowest in Vienna (21 per cent) and highest in Vorarlberg (31.8 per cent); see graphs below.

Unadjusted gender pay gap in % in 2007-2011

	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011		
European Union (27 countries)	n.a.	17.3	16.6	16.1	16.2		
Austria	25.5	25.1	24.3	24.0	23.7		
Source: Eurostat (Structure of Earnings Survey methodology)							

Unadjusted gender pay gap By Nace Sectors in % in 2010

Industry, construction and services (except public administration, defence, compulsory	
social security)	24.0
Business economy	25.2
Mining and quarrying	18.3
Manufacturing	24.4
Electricity, gas, steam and air conditioning supply	23.6
Water supply; sewerage, waste management and remediation activities	12.2
Construction	9.9
Wholesale and retail trade; repair of motor vehicles and motorcycles	27.5
Transportation and storage	7.3
Accommodation and food service activities	9.9
Information and communication	21.2
Financial and insurance activities	30.3
Real estate activities	27.0
Professional, scientific and technical activities	34.0
Administrative and support service activities	22.5
Public administration and defence; compulsory social security	n.a.
Education	27.8
Human health and social work activities	12.0
Arts, entertainment and recreation	34.0
Other service activities	32.0
Source: Eurostat (Structure of Earnings Survey methodology)	

Gender pay gap by Federal Province in 2010 (Based on average Gross income of full-time employees)

	Earnings men	Earnings women	Disadvantage for women in %
Vorarlberg	44,116 €	30,068 €	- 31.8 %
Upper Austria	42,781 €	30,608 €	- 28.5 %
Tyrol	41,342 €	30,110 €	- 27.2 %
Salzburg	43,143 €	31,682 €	- 26.6 %
Lower Austria	45,470 €	34,171 €	- 24.8 %
Styria	41,820 €	31,593 €	- 24.5 %
Austria total	44,119 €	33,415 €	- 24.3 %
Burgenland	42,161 €	31,992 €	- 24.1 %
Carinthia	42,384 €	32,307 €	- 23.8 %
Vienna	48,595 €	38,269 €	- 21.2 %

Source: BKA F (Statistics Austria)

Measures to promote gender equality in the labour market

76. The National Action Plan (NAP) on Gender Equality in the Labour Market of June 2010 represents an important contribution to improving the situation of women in the Austrian labour market. With the involvement of all ministries, the provincial governments,

social partners, NGOs, businesses and scientists/researchers, the NAP on Gender Equality presents a comprehensive package of 55 concrete measures which pursue four strategic objectives: (i) diversifying educational pathways and career choices; (ii) increasing labour market participation and full-time employment among women; (iii) increasing the number of women in leadership positions; and (iv) closing the gender pay gap. Of the 55 measures proposed, 35 (64 per cent) have been realised fully. Another 14 measures have been implemented in part or are in the process of being implemented.

- 77. The amendment to the Federal Equal Treatment Act 2011 (GlBG; Federal Law Gazette 7/2011) provides for the gradual introduction of a compulsory pay gap report for businesses. From 2013 onward, this obligation applies to companies with more than 250 employees, and from 2014 all companies with more than 150 employees will have to submit the report. The reports have to present the average income of women and men in each pay grade and year of service.
- 78. In addition, the amendment to the Federal Equal Treatment Act stipulates that minimum wages and the willingness to pay more must be indicated in job advertisements. Violations of this provision have been subject to sanctions since 1 January 2012. A wage and salary calculator has been set up which provides up-to-date and easily accessible information about pay customary in a sector/location in October 2011. It is available on the website www.gehaltsrecher.gv.at. The federal salary calculator has also created greater transparency. This online tool is currently being updated, and the new version has been available since April 2013.
- 79. In case of supposed individual pay discrimination the Ombud for Equal Treatment and the Equal Treatment Commission have had the right to be informed by the competent social security institution on income data of persons suitable for comparison since 2011.
- 80. In March 2011 the Austrian Council of Ministers passed a resolution in which the federal government committed itself to increasing the share of women in supervisory bodies of enterprises in which the federal government holds a 50 per cent or larger stake to 25 per cent by 31 December 2013. The share of women in those bodies must be raised to 35 per cent by 31 December 2018. The second progress report, which was submitted to the Austrian Council of Ministers in early March, shows that the share of women in enterprises close to the state averages 33 per cent in Austria. Of the 55 enterprises in which the federal government holds a stake of at least 50 per cent, 35 have a proportion of women of 25 per cent or more. Moreover, the management training programme "Future.Women" (Zukunft.women) and the database of female supervisory board members are being continued in order to enhance the profile of highly qualified female candidates for supervisory board positions.
- 81. In the summer of 2011, the National Council passed the Long-Term Care Allowance Reform Act 2012 and the Care Allowance Act as a necessary step toward promoting (full-time) employment opportunities for women as well as administrative reform, a client-friendly reform of care allowance administration and funding, and ensuring a means-tested development and expansion of care allowance services in long-term care.
- 82. The increase in the number of child care places has made another contribution to enhancing (full-time) employment opportunities for women. Over the last ten years the child care coverage rate among 3-year-olds rose substantially from 57.8 per cent in 2001 to 80.2 per cent in 2011. The rate for 4-year-olds showed an increase from 88.3 per cent to 94.2 per cent, and among 5-year olds the rate climbed from 89.7 per cent to 96.3 per cent. The coverage rate for children under 3 years old likewise showed a substantial increase from 8.4 per cent (2001) to 19.7 per cent (2011), or even 21.8 per cent including qualified child-minders. In the years from 2011 to 2014, the federal government is making a total of € 55 million in subsidies available for child care, and the provincial governments will co-

fund these efforts with matching contributions. For the years 2012 to 2014, subsidies amounting to \in 15 million per year are available. The federal funds are also intended to extend opening times. In particular, support is being provided for full-day and flexible childcare arrangements which are compatible with full-time employment on the part of parents.

- 83. Additional stimuli to promote female employment have been provided by the Austrian federal civil service with its model of a "paternity leave month" for public servants. Since January 2011, employment law for all male public servants has provided for the possibility of taking four weeks of unpaid paternity leave during the maternity protection stage. In the course of a relaunch (fall 2012) of the paternity leave campaign originally started in 2010, an advice tour on paternity leave travelled throughout Austria in the first half of 2013. In 2012, workshops were held to provide businesses with training with regard to paternity leave.
- 84. The programme to promote the involvement of women in trades and technical professions ("Frauen in Handwerk und Technik"/FiT) launched in 2006 was extended until 2014. The purpose of the programme is to enable women to take part in non-traditional educational paths and to complete at least an apprenticeship in those areas. Broadening the range of professions for women is intended to help counteract segregation in the labour market. Moreover, the programme "Re-Entering the Workforce Future Opportunities" ("Wiedereinstieg mit Zukunft") and the modular training programme "Systematic Competence" ("Kompetenz mit System"; cf. NRP 2012) are designed to make it easier for women to re-enter the workforce after family-related career breaks. At the end of 2012, the pilot project offering specific vocational and training centres for women ("Frauenberufszentren", originally launched in April 2010) came to an end. Given the positive evaluation results the programme received, these centres for additional qualifications and the promotion of gender equality will be expanded throughout the country.
- 85. For the relevant statistics, please see annexes II, III and IV.

Reply to the issues raised in paragraph 11 of the list of issues

86. Persons feeling sexually harassed at the workplace in Austria do not only have recourse to ordinary courts but also to the Equal Treatment Commission set up within the Federal Chancellery in accordance with the two Equal Treatment Acts.

Equal Treatment Commission (ETC) for the private sector

- 87. The Equal Treatment Commission (Gleichbehandlungskommission) Gleichbehandlungskommission has been established as a special institution to support the labour and social courts as well as the civil courts. Employees, employers, representatives of works councils, the Ombud for Equal Treatment, any person affected by discrimination or an interest group represented in the respective Senate of the ETC may submit a request for examining a violation of the principle of equal treatment if they assume that such a violation has occurred. In cases of discrimination the Equal Treatment Commission issues a non-binding expert opinion as to whether sexual harassment occurred or not.
- 88. In 1992 "sexual harassment" was enshrined as a discriminatory offence (including claims for compensation) in the Equal Treatment Act. Since then many cases of complaints submitted to the ETC have dealt with this offence; they were predominantly filed by women who had been harassed.

Statistics of cases of complaints about sexual harassment

2004-2005	16
2006-2007	35
2008-2009	36
2010-2011	44
2012	28
2013 (31 Aug 2013)	13

Federal Equal Treatment Commission

- 89. The Federal Equal Treatment Commission (Bundes-Gleichbehandlungskommission) Bundes-Gleichbehandlungskommission is a special administrative institution of the federal government responsible for complaints about discrimination in connection with employment relationships with the federal government.
- 90. The offence of "sexual harassment" has also been punishable in connection with employment relationships with the federal government since 1993. The respective cases may also be examined by the Federal Equal Treatment Commission.

Statistics of complaints about sexual harassment in the federal civil service

2005	1
2006	4
2007	3
2008	
2009	1
2010	
2011	1
2012	4
2013 (31 Aug 2013)	3

- 91. Since 1 August 2008 it has been mandatory to publish the complete and anonymized wording of the findings of the examination of complaints by the two Equal Treatment Commissions on the website of the Minister for Women's Affairs www.frauen.bka.gv.at.
- 92. Furthermore, reports on Equal Treatment providing relevant statistical data are submitted to the National Council every second year; they are also published on the website of the Minister for Women's Affairs.
- 93. Reference may be made to the following court judgments concerning sexual harassment:
 - OGH (Supreme Court of Justice) 9 ObA 118/11k of 21 December 2011
 - ASG (Labour and Social Court) Vienna 9 Cga 23/10 of 23 March 2011
 - OLG (Regional Court of Appeal) Linz 12 Ra 71/10 of 20 October 2010
 - OGH 8 ObA 63/09 of 22 September 2010
- 94. The Ombud for Equal Treatment (Anwaltschaft für Gleichbehandlung) has been set up to provide advice and support to persons considering themselves discriminated against, e.g. on grounds of sexual and gender-related harassment (Sections 6 and 7 of the Equal

Treatment Act) in employment and occupation. In general, it should be highlighted that sexual harassment was given as a reason for complaint in the majority of cases in which counselling was provided in the context of discrimination on grounds of gender in employment and occupation. The standard procedure applied in cases of discrimination starts with a personal and confidential advisory session; subsequent measures comprise interventions, negotiations on a possible settlement of the conflict or applications to the Equal Treatment Commission, as agreed upon with the persons affected.

95. The number of cases in which the Ombud for Equal Treatment provided advice on sexual/gender-related harassment in the period 2005-2009 is set out in the table below

Year	Cases
2005	406
2006	406
2007	389
2008	464
2009	563

Reply to the issues raised in paragraph 12 of the list of issues

96. In response to the request to provide statistical information on work-related accidents and illnesses, the following tables of the Activity Reports of the Labour Inspectorate are included in annexes V to VIII (Occupational accidents and occupational illnesses are presented in the annexes as total figures and disaggregated by gender; they are preceded by the number of those with a fatal outcome [in italics]):

- Table Recognised occupational accidents of employees in a narrower sense (excluding travelling to/from work) in 2011, disaggregated by economic sections in accordance with ÖNACE 2008 and causes of injury;
- Table Recognised occupational illnesses of employees in 2011, disaggregated by economic sections in accordance with ÖNACE 2008;
- Table Recognised occupational accidents of employees in a narrower sense (excluding travelling to/from work) in 2010, disaggregated by economic sections in accordance with ÖNACE 2008 and causes of injuries;
- Table Recognised occupational illnesses of employees in 2010, disaggregated by economic sections in accordance with ÖNACE 2008.
- 97. Compliance with the Employee Protection Act (ArbeitnehmerInnenschutzgesetz) is in general ensured by the Labour Inspectorate the Austrian authority responsible for enforcing regulations regarding safety and health protection at the workplace. The Austrian Labour Inspectorate meets the requirements of C081 ILO Labour Inspection Convention (No. 81) and the quality criteria defined in it. The ratio of labour inspectors to employees also complies with the ILO recommendations (i.e. 1:10,000). Infringements of provisions governing safety and health protection at the workplace are sanctioned in administrative criminal procedures. Networking with the labour inspectorates of other EU Member States and, in particular, the Senior Labour Inspectors' Committee (SLIC) has facilitated the exchange of information as well as cross-border enforcement in cases in which regulations concerning health and safety at the workplace were violated.
- 98. Based on the intensive cooperation among all important Austrian organisations and institutions active in the area of labour protection and the realisation of projects within the framework of the Austrian Occupational Safety Strategy, compliance with and enforcement of relevant provisions have been strengthened.

- 99. Representatives of ministries, provincial governments, the social partners, interest groups, universities, enterprises, associations and other institutions dealing with occupational safety issues engage in planning tasks and cooperate within the framework of the Austrian Occupational Safety Strategy. Their work is coordinated by the Central Labour Inspectorate.
- 100. Thanks to this collaboration and the optimal use of existing resources, about 100 projects were initiated between 2007 and 2012. Approximately 78 projects have been completed. Moreover, about 40 publications on occupational safety have been released. In the period from 2007 to 2012 the number of occupational accidents decreased by 9.5 per cent, while fatal occupational accidents dropped by 9 per cent; the incidence rate of accidents at work went down by 13 per cent. The Austrian Occupational Safety Strategy has not only played an instrumental role in achieving this reduction but also generated an enhanced value-added through partnerships and networks. Furthermore, it created a sound statistical basis for proving the effectiveness of specific core services of the Labour Inspectorate (e.g. information and advisory inspections) in specific sectors.
- 101. Further information on the Austrian Occupational Safety Strategy, the institutions involved as well as ongoing projects are available to be downloaded in German and English on the website of the Labour Inspectorate:
 - http://www.arbeitsinspektion.gv.at/AI/Arbeitsschutz/strategie/default.htm
 - http://www.arbeitsinspektion.gv.at/AI/Arbeitsschutz/strategie/en_strategy_00 10.htm
- 102. The following priority campaigns are examples illustrating the fact that the Austrian Labour Inspectorate takes efficient measures against work-related accidents and occupational illnesses:

Priority campaign focusing on safety and health protection in bakeries (2011-2012)

- 103. The aim of this follow-up project of the Labour Inspectorate on the prevention of the occupational disease asthma bronchiale ("baker's asthma") was to assess the effectiveness of the campaign "Safety and Health Protection in Bakeries" conducted from 2000 to 2005.
- 104. Within the framework of this priority campaign, inspections were conducted in 325 bakeries across Austria in 2011 and 2012. Based on the evaluation of results, the shortcomings detected in enterprises which had been inspected during the first priority campaign from 2000 to 2005 had decreased considerably.

Priority campaign "Healthy work in the food services sector – prevention of psychosocial and ergonomic stress (2011/2012)

- 105. Within the framework of the bi-annual priority campaign of the Labour Inspectorate (2011/2012), awareness was raised regarding the identification and assessment of causes of physical and mental stress in this sector; moreover, a systematic approach and effective implementation strategy were developed to reduce these strains.
- 106. Thanks to intensified public relations work (workshops with social partners, for safety representatives in companies ["Sicherheitsvertrauenspersonen"], experts in preventive occupational health care ["Präventivfachkräfte"], meetings, articles in professional journals, website of the Labour Inspectorate), greater importance has been attached to these issues throughout Austria.

Continuing the campaign "Employee Protection in Furniture-making Carpentries"

107. In a targeted priority campaign all furniture makers with up to 50 employees are to be visited, inspected and consulted by 2015. The accident rate in this sector is high, and

accidents are usually severe. Besides accident prevention, this campaign will focus in particular on new legislation adopted in the past few years (Workplace Ordinance, Ordinance on Limiting Values, Ordinance on Work Equipment, Ordinance on Noise and Vibrations, Ordinance on Health Monitoring) and the employment of young people.

Priority campaign "Information and Advisory Services Focusing on the Premises of Construction Companies" (2010/2011)

108. Within the framework of the Austrian Occupational Safety Strategy 2007-2012, the spotlight was turned on the high-risk area of the construction sector. In this campaign great emphasis was placed on providing information and advice to construction companies directly on their premises. It was considered a top priority to establish contacts with the management of construction and civil engineering enterprises. An explanatory leaflet on accidents in the construction sector was developed to support this campaign.

Article 8 – Trade union rights

Reply to the issues raised in paragraph 13 of the list of issues

- 109. As far as the right to strike is concerned, there are no new developments to report. In general emphasis should be placed on the fact that the Austrian legal system provides neither for a subjective right to industrial action nor for a general ban on industrial action under criminal or civil law. The right to strike may, however, be derived from the case law of the European Court of Human Rights based on article 11 of the ECHR ("freedom of assembly and association").
- 110. There are no differences between industrial action led by a coalition and so-called "wildcat" strikes. Furthermore, the principles of governmental neutrality and equality of arms are applicable.
- 111. When examining the question whether industrial action is lawful or not it is necessary to distinguish between industrial action as a collective action and individual behaviour in the process of industrial action. Based on the prevailing doctrine, industrial action may be unlawful due to non-compliance with general duties as to conduct; examination of lawfulness should focus particularly on the question whether the respective conduct is contra bonos mores. In particular, those strikes are deemed to be contra bonos mores where the adverse effects on the opponent are grossly disproportionate to the desired outcome of the strike. As this problem does not have any practical relevance, there is no relevant jurisprudence in this regard to report on.
- 112. Since 2005 no strikes have appeared in the statistics on strikes (source: Austrian Trade Union Federation and Chamber of Labour).

Article 9 – The right to social security

Reply to the issues raised in paragraph 14 of the list of issues

- 113. The means-tested guaranteed minimum income scheme aims at significantly improving the situation of persons with financial difficulties through the following measures:
 - For the first time, a system of uniform minimum standards created the provision of a binding minimum income

- It brought about a clear financial improvement for single parents (higher reference rates) and thus supports a group of persons that is highly exposed to the risk of poverty.
- It includes improvements regarding procedural law aspects, ensuring better access to legal services (written administrative decisions, shorter decision-making periods).
- It helped remove the stigma associated with the persons concerned (electronic health insurance card instead of social welfare sickness forms) and to reduce information deficits regarding the use of services guaranteeing a minimum income.
- The scheme created a better network among authorities, in particular at the interface of the Public Employment Service and social welfare institutions and, as a result, is intended to optimally support the re-integration of unemployed minimum-income recipients.
- 114. Means-tested guaranteed minimum income is available not only for citizens but also for people who are to be placed on an equal footing with citizens according to obligations under international law (e.g. recognised refugees, EEA citizens, citizens of third countries after five years of lawful residence, people under subsidiary protection with a view to the core benefits). As to income and assets, the same eligibility criteria apply to foreigners and Austrians. Asylum seekers are excluded from this measure, as their requirements are covered by another instrument of provision (basic welfare support/"Grundversorgung").
- 115. The following eligibility criteria have to be fulfilled:
 - A small or no income from economic activity, social transfers and subsistence payments
 - Assets must not exceed a free limit of € 3,974.55
 - Willingness to work; exceptions are as follows:
 - Persons unfit for work (medical certificate required)
 - Persons taking care of children (until their third birthday)
 - Care-giving family members
- 116. The minimum standard has been fixed on the basis of the so-called "net compensatory allowance" (i.e. minimum pension guaranteed to single pensioners through a top-up benefit), amounting to € 794.91 in 2013. The minimum standards are divided into the following groups:
 - Singles people and single parents minimum standard of 100% (€ 794.91)
 - Couples 2 x 75 per cent (€ 1,192.36)
 - Adults (>18 years)
 - Who live in communal residence (house share) with other adults -75%
 - As from the third eligible person living in the household entitled to alimony 50%
 - Minors minimum 18 per cent (different rules in the laws of the federal provinces)

These minimum standards include a share of 25 per cent for housing costs.

- 117. The entire income received by an applicant (e.g. alimony, income from economic activity, social security benefits...) is deducted from the benefit. The only exceptions are family allowance and long-term care allowance. In assessing the entitlement, the whole household (e.g. spouses, life partners) is taken into account ("benefit unit").
- 118. Long-term care allowance (i.e. an allowance that covers part of the costs arising from the care requirements of a person) is a social benefit granted irrespective of insurance contributions. In May 2013 437,515 persons obtained long-term care allowance based on the Federal Long-Term Care Act (Bundespflegegeldgesetz/ BPGG), Federal Law Gazette No. 110/1993, as amended. Long-term care allowance was increased by 2.0 per cent in 2005; by 4 per cent (care levels 1 and 2), 5 per cent (care levels 3 to 5) and by 6 per cent (care levels 6 and 7) in 2009.
- 119. By introducing a lump-sum hardship supplement in respect of the specific care levels assigned to persons with severe mental or psychological disabilities, in particular dementia illnesses, as well as of children and young people with extremely severe disabilities, a total of 14,519 persons have benefited from higher long-term care allowances under the Federal Long-Term Care Act since 1 January 2009.
- 120. Based on the 2012 Long-Term Care Reform Act (Pflegegeldreformgesetz), Federal Law Gazette I No. 58/2011, which came into force on 1 January 2012, the federal government has assumed sole responsibility for legislation on long-term care allowance and all matters related to the implementation of this scheme. Thanks to the concentration of competence at federal level, the number of decision-making bodies was reduced from more than 300 to a total of seven institutions. This has helped to create a more simple and efficient structure.
- 121. Other social benefits payable regardless of insurance contributions are granted to socalled "favoured persons with disabilities" under the Disability Employment Act (Behinderteneinstellungsgesetz/BEinstG) and within the framework of the employment campaign of the Federal Social Office (Bundessozialamt). Austrian citizens, EU citizens, nationals of the parties to the Agreement on the European Economic Area, Swiss citizens and their family members as well as recognised refugees and third-country nationals with a long-term permit of residence can qualify as "favoured persons with disabilities".

Reply to the issues raised in paragraph 15 of the list of issues

- 122. After introducing the new pension account with effect 1 January 2014, all pension credits accrued up to 31 December 2013 will be presented as a single amount in euro and entered as an initial credit in the pension accounts. This rule applies to all insured persons who were born in 1955 or later and earned pension credits during at least one month before 31 January 2004. The re-valued annual partial credits are added up, resulting in the total credit. Hence, pension claims may be checked easily at any time, and objectives of transparency and comprehensibility are met.
- 123. Regarding the main characteristics, type and scope of benefits as well as the financing arrangements of the Austrian social security system, reference is made to the "2012 MISSOC Report on Social Protection in the Member States of the European Union" issued by the European Commission as well as to the "Report on Pension Adequacy in the European Union 2010-2050" (2012).
- 124. The equalisation supplement which is to some extent means-tested is granted to persons who earned pension credits. This means that low pensions may be increased to the level of the so-called "reference rate for equalisation supplements" ("Ausgleichszulagenrichtsatz"). Besides the income of the eligible person, the income of the spouse or partner is taken into account. The reference rate for equalisation supplements

(including all health insurance contribution payments) currently (2013) amounts to € 837.63 for single persons and € 1,255.89 for couples (it is paid 14 times a year.)

125. With regard to the second part of the question, be referred to the explanations under article 11, reply to the issues raised in paragraph 23 of the list of issues.

Article 10 – Protection of the family, mothers and children

Reply to the issues raised in paragraph 16 of the list of issues

126. In order to obtain a residence title, family members of third-country nationals who are holders of a residence title in Austria or family members of Austrian nationals, who do not fall within the scope of Council Directive 2004/38/EC on the right of citizens of the European Union and their family members to move and reside freely within the territory of the Member States first of all need to fulfil general eligibility requirements, e.g. having adequate means of subsistence, health insurance coverage and adequate means of accommodation according to local standards.

Adequate means of subsistence

127. The third-country national (or the sponsor) must have a fixed and regular income or other savings enabling him/her and his/her family member(s) to live without resorting to welfare aid from local authorities. The income needs to be equal to or exceed the standard income rate. In 2013, this standard income rate amounts to \in 837.63 for single persons, \in 1,255.89 for married couples and an additional \in 129.24 for each child.

Health insurance coverage and adequate means of accommodation

- 128. Furthermore, the third-country national must have health insurance coverage, providing benefits in Austria and covering all risks. Family members of third-country nationals who pursue gainful employment in Austria (e.g. "Red-White-Red Card" holders or holders of the residence title "EU Blue Card") or family members of Austrian citizens are usually covered by their sponsors' health insurance (co-insurance). Finally, the third-country national (or the sponsor) must provide evidence of a legal title to accommodation (e.g. by providing a lease contract), considered adequate for his/her family size according to local standards.
- 129. In some cases of family reunification, another requirement is an available quota place. The possibility to include such a requirement is consistent with Article 8 of Council Directive 2003/86/EC on the right to family reunification.
- 130. Since the latest amendment to the Settlement and Residence Act (in force since 1 July 2011, the quota obligation has applied only to the following persons:
 - Family members of a third-country national who is the holder of a residence title
 "Long-term Resident EC" or a "Red-White-Red Card Plus" (exceptions
 regarding former Red-White-Red Card holders or EU Blue Card holders) or any
 kind of settlement permit;
 - Family members of individuals who have been granted asylum.
- 131. During the last few years, there has been in general no waiting time, as sufficient quota has been available.
- 132. Quotas have been used up in Austria in the past few years as follows:
 - 2008: 87.6%
 - 2009: 70.0%

- 2010: 65.2%
- 2011: 67.3%
- 2012: 76.7%
- 2013 (as of 25 August): 43.3%.
- 133. Accordingly, there are currently no initiatives to abolish the quota obligation for the aforementioned remaining cases of family reunification.

Reply to the issues raised in paragraph 17 of the list of issues

- 134. In response to social and legal changes, the Federal Fundamental Act on Youth Welfare (Bundesgrundsatzgesetz zur öffentlichen Jugendwohlfahrt), passed in 1989, was superseded by the Federal Act on the Principles of Assistance to Families and Educational Care for Children and Young People "2013 Federal Children's and Youth Assistance Act" (Bundes-Kinder- und Jugendhilfegesetz/B-KJHG), Federal Law Gazette I No. 69/2013.
- 135. In accordance with this Fundamental Act, the federal provinces have to adopt implementing laws defining uniform standards for all of Austria within one year of its entry into force, e.g. for social-pedagogical institutions.
- 136. Moreover, the B-KJHG 2013 enshrined legal standards concerning various types of alternative care for children who do not have any realistic chances of growing up in their family of origin, e.g. provisions governing approvals of private institutions, foster carers and adoptive parents. Only trained personnel with adequate (inter)personal skills who are active in fields such as social work, social pedagogy, psychology and psychotherapy may be used. These specialists have to be offered regular further and advanced in-service training as well as supervision. They have to perform their tasks based on professional standards, which are laid down in detail with legally binding effect by the federal provinces.

Alternative care institutions and family-type alternative care for children in the federal provinces

Burgenland

- 137. In accordance with Section 29 of the Youth Welfare Act of Burgenland (Bgld. Jugendwohlfahrtsgesetz), Provincial Law Gazette No. 32/1992, as amended in Provincial Law Gazette No. 75/2009, "comprehensive care" comprises care and education of a minor in a foster family or in a youth welfare institution; babies and infants should be given priority in benefiting from care and education in a foster family.
- 138. Youth welfare institutions as well as foster parents require the approval of the competent authority and are under its constant supervision. Foster parents have to undergo training (3 modules with a total of 36 hours) before receiving the approval of the authority. The provincial government grants financial aid towards the further and advanced training of foster parents. If required, foster parents are offered supervision.
- 139. The personnel of the youth welfare institutions has to have adequate skills and is required to participate in regular further and advanced training as well as to undergo supervision. The mandatory staffing ratio and the minimum amount of further and advanced training (16 hours/year) are laid down by the authority.

Carinthia

140. The Youth Welfare Act of Carinthia (Kärntner Jugendwohlfahrtsgesetz/K-JWG), Provincial Law Gazette No. 139/1991, as amended in Provincial Law Gazette No. 89/2012 provides for different types of residential care for children and young people outside their families if this is deemed necessary based on the youth welfare law. Homes and other institutions that have a legal duty to provide care and education to minors (Section 28) and are open all year round as well as foster parents require the approval of the competent authority. They are also subject to permanent supervision by an authority (Sections 15, 18, 23 and 24 of the K-JWG). In addition to residential care in homes, other institutions or foster families, the federal province provides services under the K-JWG which are suited to the requirements of each individual case so as to support the children and young people as well as the families involved (Section 8 of the K-JWG).

141. Section 18 of the Act on Guaranteed Minimum Income of Carinthia (Kärntner Mindestsicherungsgesetz/ K-MSG), Provincial Law Gazette No. 15/2007, as amended in Provincial Law Gazette No. 17/2013, stipulates that persons exposed to violence by family members or their partners in life must be provided with temporary accommodation as well as support and counselling services allowing them to cope with violent experiences and to develop new prospects for the future. These services must also be provided to their underage children unless measures pursuant to the Youth Welfare Act of Carinthia have to be taken.

Lower Austria

- 142. The Lower Austrian Implementing Act regarding the B-KJHG 2013 (Niederösterreichisches Ausführungsgesetz zum B-KJHG 2013) is expected to be passed in 2013. The envisioned Implementing Act will grant the provincial government of Lower Austria the "power to issue statutory instruments" ("Verordnungsermächtigung") allowing it to establish and operate educational facilities.
- 143. As far as fostering schemes (representing a family-type of care which is particularly suitable for very young children) are concerned, the new Implementing Act of Lower Austria will professionalise the activity of foster parents by offering them qualified training. As in the past, the provincial government of Lower Austria will act as the authority issuing approvals, while the concrete assessment of the suitability of applicants for providing foster care falls within the remit of the competence centres of the provincial government of Lower Austria.
- 144. In the future the Youth Welfare System of Lower Austria (NÖ Jugendhilfe) will provide various services in cooperation with at least two experts. This will help to improve the quality of risk assessment, assistance planning and the performance of child placement tasks. Another vital step is to change the focus of services available within the youth welfare system (i.e. assistance to children and young people) towards extra-mural and mobile services, as this will enable children to remain in their familiar setting. Different options are developed together with non-governmental social service providers to ensure a wide spectrum of planning assistance.

Salzburg

145. The range of child-care facilities in Salzburg covers nurseries, play groups, groups with a wider age mix, groups of pupils, day-care centres and day-care parents. Various laws and ordinances specify the admissible number of children per group, the required personnel, the ratio of children to carers, requirements regarding the necessary amount of time for preparations and premises, etc. Three inspectors are responsible for quality

assurance; they monitor the quality of pedagogy and compliance with requirements on the premises of facilities.

Styria

146. 1991 Youth Welfare Act of Styria (Steiermärkische Jugendwohlfahrtsgesetz/StJWG), Provincial Law Gazette No. 93/1990, as amended in Provincial Law Gazette No. 63/2011, contains provisions on foster children as well as residential homes and other facilities for minors. Care places may be assigned exclusively by the district administration or approved institutions of the private youth welfare system. Private youth welfare institutions seeking approval have to meet the requirement that all tasks are performed by adequately trained personnel. Homes and other institutions providing residential care and education to minors (Section 37) may be established and operated only subject to the approval of the provincial government of Styria (Section 29).

147. Under the Violence Prevention Act of Styria (Steiermärkisches Gewaltschutzeinrichtungsgesetz/StGschEG), Provincial Law Gazette No. 17/2005, women, and minors living with them in the same household, are granted assistance in facilities protecting women and children if they are exposed to violence from close family members.

Upper Austria

- 148. Public youth care institutions are approved by the government if they observe quality standards laid down in guidelines for full-time care, foster children and crisis care.
- 149. The processes of planning and providing the necessary care are based on workflow descriptions. The social workers responsible for these processes have to meet the children in care institutions twice a year to supervise their care and development. Additionally, professionals are responsible for regulatory auditing of care institutions at least every two years to make sure that quality standards and guidelines are complied with.

Vienna

- 150. The City of Vienna tries to find suitable foster families to make available family-type external care, in particular for very young children who cannot be assured of adequate protection in their families of origin. The suitability of persons willing to provide care and education for a child in an emergency situation for a limited period of time during which risks faced by the child are assessed by the authorities or within the context of "comprehensive care" is examined carefully in each individual case. The mandatory procedure for approving foster parents covers informative talks with the potential foster parents, an examination as to whether they meet the legal, family, social, health and financial conditions for providing care as well as compulsory participation in a modular training programme. The future foster parents must also be willing to cooperate with social workers. Within the framework of care supervision, the social workers responsible for supporting the foster family check regularly whether care and education of the foster child is ensured in an optimal manner. They have personal contact with the child and ensure his/her protection, optimal personal care and support in the family. Further training and supervision programmes are offered to support the foster parents.
- 151. In 2012 the telephone number 147 of the telephone counselling centre "Rat auf Draht" was posted on the notice boards of all social-pedagogical facilities to make children and young people aware of this external counselling service for all kinds of problems. Furthermore, a special ombudsperson for children living in social-pedagogical communities was appointed in early 2012. The ombudsperson acts as an independent contact person supporting children and young people in enforcing their rights and asserting their claims.

Vorarlberg

- 152. Vorarlberg's social network in the sphere of youth welfare includes upstream service providers as well as aftercare institutions. Special attention should be drawn to the initiative "Early Helps" ("Frühe Hilfen"). The "early.start" project ("früh.start") is part of the overall "Early Helps" concept and offers support and advisory services across Vorarlberg. "early.start" offers families with children aged between 0 and 3 years assistance and specialist intervention. It focuses on the healthy development of the children, in particular those whose parents are in difficult life situations.
- 153. In Vorarlberg children receiving care and education outside the family are placed predominantly with foster families, while only very few children are accommodated in flat-sharing communities or other facilities, e.g. children's villages.

Reply to the issues raised in paragraph 18 of the list of issues

- 154. In Austria, there are various criminal offences concerning trafficking in human beings: Section 104 of the Criminal Code ("Slavery"), Section 104a of the Criminal Code ("Trafficking in Human Beings") and Section 217 of the Criminal Code ("Transnational Prostitution Trade") as well as Section 116 of the Aliens' Police Law ("Exploitation of an Alien").
- 155. Section 104a of the Criminal Code has been amended recently. The amendments came into force on 1 August 2013 and entailed more severe penalties for some offences (e.g. offences in accordance with Section 104a, para. 1 as well as penalties in cases where the victims are aged between 14 and 18 years). In addition, the scope of the concept of "exploitation" was widened to include begging and different criminal activities.
- 156. Furthermore, Section 217 of the Criminal Code ("Transnational Prostitution Trade") punishes persons procuring another person to become a prostitute or recruiting another person for prostitution in another country different from that whose nationality he/ she has or where he/she has his/her usual place of abode, regardless of whether this person is already engaging in prostitution or not.
- 157. Under the Aliens' Police Law, the exploitation of an alien (Section 116) is punishable.

Statistical data

Cases reported	Offences according to Section 104a of the Criminal Code	Offences according to Section 104a of the Criminal Code	Section 217 of the Criminal Code
2008	4	-	46
2009	16	16	43
2010	16	2	47
2011	14	6	52
2012	20	2	48

Suspe	ects identified	Offences according to Section 104a of the Criminal Code	Offences according to Section 104a of the Criminal Code	Section 217 of the Criminal Code
200	male	3		55
8	female	1		19

Suspe	ects identified	Offences according to Section 104a of the Criminal Code	Offences according to Section 104a of the Criminal Code	Section 217 of the Criminal Code
	total	4	-	74
200	male	11	10	68
9	female	4	9	31
	total	15	19	99
201	male	11		35
0	female	5		13
	total	16	-	48
201	male	10	7	39
1	female	5	2	8
	total	15	9	47
201	male	15	6	64
2	female	7	3	21
	total	22	9	85

Victii	ms	Offences according to Section 104a of the Criminal Code	Offences according to Section 104a of the Criminal Code	Section 217 of the Criminal Code
200 8	male	2		1
	female	2		31
	total	4	-	32
200 9	male	11		
	female	4	7	87
	total	15	7	87
201 0	male	2		2
	female	11	1	46
	total	13	1	48
201	male	4	2	1
	female	12	5	46
	total	16	7	47
201	male	9	-	2
	female	11	8	73
	total	20	8	75

158. The data of the Judicial Criminal Statistics (conviction statistics) from 1976 onwards are provided free of charge in the Statistical Database on the website of Statistics Austria (Statistik Austria)(http://www.statistik.at/web_de/services/datenbank_superstar/index.html) – (visit website—login—statistics—social data—crime—criminal statistics).

159. In this context, it should be pointed out that in the vast majority of cases the victim has to give testimony to clear up and investigate these criminal offences. Hence, the quality and usability of witness evidence is determined to a large extent by the willingness of the victim to give evidence as well as his/her availability to the prosecuting authorities.

- 160. The Austrian Code of Criminal Procedure (Strafprozessordnung/StPO) provides a number of measures to protect and support the victim, especially in connection with the aforementioned criminal offences (e.g. Section 66, para. 2 of the StPO Victims' Right to Support during Court Procedures, Section 162 of the StPO Anonymous Statements, Section 165 of the StPO Separate Hearing of Witnesses).
- 161. With a view to improving cooperation between the prosecuting authorities and victims' protection facilities, the Federal Ministry of Justice initiated regular "round tables" at the provincial courts. The aim of these gatherings is to facilitate exchanges between judges and public prosecutors on the one hand and representatives of victims' protection facilities on the other hand. These round tables have been well received by the target groups as they promote cooperation and mutual understanding of the respective task areas.
- 162. Moreover, public prosecutors with special training are responsible for dealing with human trafficking and criminal offences against victims' sexual integrity and self-determination.
- 163. In view of the special needs of victims of human trafficking, the Federal Ministry of Justice together with the Federal Ministry of the Interior, the public prosecutors' offices and special protection facilities for victims of human trafficking –developed a concept to improve cooperation in cases of human trafficking between the prosecuting authorities and the victims' protection institutions in September 2012. It focuses on an ongoing exchange between the prosecuting offices and victims' protection associations as well as regular further training in this area for judges and public prosecutors.
- 164. In implementing this concept, the Federal Ministry of Justice organised the first exchange of experience and views between the prosecuting authorities and the victims' protection associations on 23 May 2013. Furthermore, another training workshop on human trafficking was organized for judges and public prosecutors by the Federal Ministry of Justice on 20 June 2013. The lectures were given by representatives of the Ministry and of victims' protection associations.

Reply to the issues raised in paragraph 19 of the list of issues

- 165. No judicial data are available on these offences. Regarding crime statistics of the Austrian police, see annex IX. As the Judicial Criminal Statistics do not distinguish whether offences (e.g. rape) were committed in the victim's social context or not, no specific information can be provided on the sanctions imposed on perpetrators. The penalties under the law are basically the same; this means that the law does not allow for any circumstances giving rise to a more favourable treatment of domestic violence.
- 166. In 2012, 7748 barring orders/evictions were issued, 442 barring orders were revoked, 751 administrative offences were sanctioned and 6825 cases were settled out of court (as a de-escalating measure).
- 167. The objectives of different preventive measures taken in the context of various services for victims of child maltreatment as well as of domestic violence (besides any other prevention programmes of different ministries) were taken into account in particular by establishing child and victim protection groups under Section 8e of the Federal Hospital and Sanatorium Act (Bundesgesetzes über Krankenanstalten und Kuranstalten/KAKuG).
- 168. Perpetrators of violence may be banned from places specified in a court injunction. They may also be ordered to avoid meeting and contacting the victim. The prerequisite for issuing such an injunction is that further meetings with the perpetrator would be inacceptable for the victim and that the injunction does not prejudice any substantial interests of the perpetrator.

Reply to the issues raised in paragraph 20 of the list of issues

- 1. Scope and definition of "light work" in the 1987 Children and Youth Employment Act (Kinder- und Jugendlichen-Beschäftigungsgesetz/KJBG), Federal Law Gazette No. 599/1987 as amended
- 169. In accordance with Section 5a, paragraph 1 of the KJBG, light work shall be permissible for children having reached their 13th year outside regular school hours only, subject to the proviso that
 - Individual tasks are performed in enterprises which employ exclusively family members of the owner of the enterprise or
 - Individual tasks in the (family's own) private household or
 - The tasks consist of running errands, giving a helping hand on sports fields or playgrounds or occasionally collecting flowers, herbs, mushrooms and fruit as well as individual activities equivalent with the aforementioned tasks.
- 170. Such individual tasks are not regarded as "light work" if their fulfilment exceeds the individual scope of performance deemed reasonable for a child in accordance with his/her age and personal skills. This is for example the case in terms of average values if a load weighing more than one fifth of the body weight of the child is moved or transported without mechanical aid (Section 5a, para. 2 of the KJBG).
- 171. Furthermore, these individual tasks pursuant to Section 5, para. 3 of the KJBG shall not be regarded as "light work" if
 - They are likely to impair the physical and mental health, development or morals of the child,
 - The child is exposed to accident risks or harmful effects of heat, cold or damp as well as to harmful effects of substances or rays detrimental to health, or to dust, gases or vapour,
 - The child is hampered in attending school and in deriving appropriate benefit from education at school and if she/he is obstructed in exercising his/her religious rights and duties,
 - The child spends more than two hours on school days and school holidays doing this work; the total number of hours spent having lessons at school and devoted to light work must not exceed seven hours.
- 172. Furthermore, it is generally forbidden to engage children in light work on Sundays and public holidays as well as between 8 p.m. and 8 a.m. (Section 5a, para. 4 of the KJBG). In accordance with Section 5a, paragraph 1 of the KJBG, the consent of the child's legal representative is a prerequisite for the admissibility of light and occasional work. He/she has to make sure that this occupation will not have any negative consequences on the child's health and school attendance (Section 5a, para. 5 of the KJBG).

2. Monitoring mechanisms

- 173. In accordance with Section 9, paragraph 1, of the KJBG, the following authorities are responsible for monitoring compliance with the provisions of the KJBG concerning child labour:
 - The district administrations (acting as administrative penal authorities) in cooperation with the Labour Inspectorates (acting as supervisory authorities),
 - The district authorities and

- The management of individual schools.
- 174. The Labour Inspectorates employ special staff responsible for matters relating to the protection of children and young people at work (labour inspectors for child work and youth protection). If the Labour Inspectorate detects inadmissible child labour, the case is reported to the district administration if an official request to restore lawfulness is not complied with.
- 175. Teachers at schools, physicians and representatives of the private youth welfare system as well as all local authorities responsible for youth welfare matters have a legal duty to report any observations concerning the violation of youth labour regulations to the competent district administration. On request of this authority, they have to provide information on child labour in general as well as on individual cases of child labour (Section 9, para. 2 of the KJBG).
- 176. Inadmissible child labour is sanctioned; the district administrations act as administrative penal authorities. In accordance with Section 30 of the KJBG, fines amounting to between \in 72 and \in 1,090, or in the event of repeated infringement between \in 218 and \in 2,180, are imposed on persons violating child labour protection regulations by the district administration, unless a more severe punishment is required under other laws.

Reply to the issues raised in paragraph 21 of the list of issues

177. The studies "Harassment, Violence and Aggression against Older Persons. The Experience of Experts in Austrian Counselling and Support Facilities" ("Übergriffe, Gewalt und Aggression gegen ältere Menschen. Die Erfahrungen von Experten und Expertinnen in österreichischen Beratungs- und Hilfeeinrichtungen") by Josef Hörl, Department of Sociology of the University of Vienna, Federal Ministry of Labour, Social Affairs and Consumer Protection 2009) and "Prevention and Intervention in Cases of Violence against Older Persons. Concepts and Measures in the International Context and Legal Aspects in Austria" ("Prävention und Intervention bei Gewalt gegen ältere Menschen. Konzepte und Maßnahmen im internationalen Kontext und rechtliche Aspekte in Österreich" by Josef Hörl, Department of Sociology of the University of Vienna, Federal Ministry of Labour, Social Affairs and Consumer Protection, June 2012) have inter alia shown that only very few older victims of violence seek help. Rather than turning to victims' assistance facilities, they tend to address these problems in contacts with medical professionals or representatives of the elderly. In autumn 2011 and 2012 workshops were held in all federal provinces to develop counselling expertise on violence against older persons within existing structures. Besides victims' assistance facilities, mobile services, residential homes for the elderly and nursing homes as well as senior citizens' representations participated in these events. Moreover, a central contact point was established within Pro Senectute Österreich (http://www.prosenectute.at/) on behalf of the Federal Ministry of Labour, Social Affairs and Consumer Protection in 2011. The "Counselling Hotline" ("Beratungstelefon") offers information and counselling regarding all types of violence against older women and men. The series of folders "Recognising Violence" ("Gewalt erkennen") raises public awareness of violence against the elderly and deals with different prioritised issues, such as dementia and violence or the situation of older persons in institutions. They are in high demand by the public and the expert community.

178. According to the controlling reports of the associations "Hilfswerk Salzburg – Legal Guardianship and Home Residents' Representation", "VertretungsNetz – Legal Guardianship, Patients' Ombudsperson, Home Residents' Representation", "IfS –Legal Guardianship, Home Residents' Representation and Patients' Ombudsperson", as well as the Lower Austrian Association of Legal Guardianship and Home Residents' Representation ("NÖ Landesverein für Sachwalterschaft und Bewohnervertretung"), a total of 181 requests for review in accordance with the Act on the Protection of Home Residents

(Heimaufenthaltsgesetz) were filed with Austrian courts by the representatives of home residents in 2012.

179. Within its sphere of responsibility, the Federal Ministry of Health has responded to the objective of reducing abuse of the elderly by initiating the appropriate legislation, in particular provisions on the representatives of home residents in Sections 8ff of the Act on the Protection of Home Residents.

Reply to the issues raised in paragraph 22 of the list of issues

- 180. Numerous specific agencies support migrant women and girls, such as the protection centres against domestic violence, the crisis centres for cases of sexual violence, shelters, counselling agencies (particularly for migrant women) and the 24-hour Helpline, all of which offer information in various languages. Relevant information (in German and English) on legal issues and numerous support agencies throughout Austria can be found on the website of the Federal Minister for Women and the Civil Service.
- 181. In general, victims of violence have to be informed of their rights as soon as they are identified as victims by the police (or other relevant official institutions). This includes information on their right to psychological support and court accompaniment.
- 182. Furthermore, efforts have been intensified to train medical staff to detect cases of violence against women and to inform potential victims about the assistance available to them. Numerous measures have been taken to provide information on violence against women to girls at school, such as using workshops, exhibitions and the website of the Ministry of Education.
- 183. Between 2004 and 2013 the following activities and measures were implemented:

Between 2004 and 2013 the following activities and measures were implemented:

- In the context of establishing the Women's Service within the Ministry for Health and Women, a special service for vital issues affecting migrant women was set up.
- 2005 Since 2005 great importance has been attached to taking measures against Harmful Traditional Practices (HTP). The goal of this campaign was to ensure basic human rights to those women who face risks of forced marriage, genital mutilation or honour crimes.
 - Starting with expert talks, several groups of professionals with influence on the situation of the persons affected were informed about current problems as well as possible solutions in Austria.
 - Planning of emergency housing for women or girls at risk of forced marriage was begun.
- 2006 Activities regarding HTP issues were documented in several brochures.
- The Report on Migrant Women was published; it served as a basis for further efforts concerning the rights of women with migrant background.
- The "Gender-Days" for pupils provided information on harmful traditional practices against women in an exhibition and workshops titled (Motive for the Crime: Honour" ("Tatmotiv Ehre"). In parallel, the film "Das andere ich" was shown to raise awareness of this subject.
 - In order to raise awareness of the topics of FGM, forced marriage and honour killing, the study "So far and yet so close harmful traditional practices affecting women") ("So fern und doch so nah -Traditionsbedingte Gewalt an Frauen") was published on the website of the Minister for

Between 2004 and 2013 the following activities and measures were implemented:

Women's Affairs. Further legal information and an overview of counselling centres and shelters in Austria for (potential) victims of harmful traditional practices were listed on this website. A short version of the study has been reprinted in the booklet "Tradition and Violence" ("Tradition und Gewalt") in German and English.

2009

- The aforementioned brochure was reprinted.
- The brochure "Women's Guide" ("Frauenratgeberin") was reprinted. The brochure includes information for victims of domestic violence and forced marriage.

2010

- The new information folder (in five languages) of the Platform "Stop FGM" was presented at a press conference. It directly addresses parents considering having harmful traditional practices performed on their daughter.
- Staff members of Women's Counselling Centres were invited to take part in training organised as "FGM Workshops".
- Two projects, organised and realised by "Orient Express" (an advice centre for women with migrant backgrounds and an NGO specialising in providing counselling for victims of forced marriage), were begun. They especially focused on forced marriage, FGM and inter-generational conflicts:
- Training sessions concerning forced marriage, FGM and intergenerational conflicts, aimed at multiplier persons like teachers, social welfare workers, the staff of Youth Facilities, family law judges and so on. These training sessions were provided in all federal provinces except Vienna.
- Training sessions on how to become a multiplier, inter alia in the field of Harmful Traditional Practices, were begun. Via this project young women with migrant backgrounds belonging to the 2nd and 3rd generation are able to acquire further qualifications and thus enhance their prospects in their professional development.

2011-2012 - The project "training of and training to become multipliers" was continued.

2013

- The first emergency accommodation for women or girls at risk of forced marriage was opened and presented to the public.

- 184. Since 1 January 2012 Austria has had extraterritorial jurisdiction over female genital mutilation and forced marriage committed abroad, regardless of the legal situation in the country where the offence has been committed, if the victim or the offender is an Austrian national or resident.
- 185. According to the Austrian Code of Criminal Procedure, victims, irrespective of their status as private parties joining the proceedings to claim damages, have a special legal standing in criminal proceedings. They are entitled to receive comprehensive information about the proceedings and their legal status; they are admitted as parties to the proceedings and may demand the reinstatement of proceedings stopped by the public prosecutor's office.
- 186. In addition, persons who are victims of violence or whose sexual integrity has been violated on the one hand, or dependants of a person whose death might have been caused by a criminal offence on the other hand, are entitled to psychosocial and legal assistance during the proceedings. The Federal Ministry of Justice may instruct victims' support organisations to provide psychosocial and legal assistance to victims (Section 66, para. 2 of the Code of Criminal Procedure). Legal assistance is provided by lawyers contracted by

victims' support organisations. They may represent the victims in criminal proceedings to safeguard their rights as well as (if requested) their status as civil claimants (see Section 66 and 67 of the Code of Criminal Procedure). Psychosocial assistance is in practice given by specially trained persons. Their services include the psychological preparation of the victim to face the emotional stress of criminal proceedings as well as accompanying the victims as confidential persons to interrogations and trials. In practice, coordination between persons providing psychosocial assistance and the criminal police, public prosecutor as well as with the court is ensured.

- 187. In 2011 75 women and 3 children and in 2012 95 women and 7 children received psychosocial and legal assistance from "LEFÖ Counselling, Education and Support for Female Migrants".
- 188. According to Section 10, paragraph 2 of the Code of Criminal Procedure, the criminal police, the public prosecutors' office or the court have to take into account the victims' rights and interests. They also have to inform victims about their rights in criminal proceedings as well as the possibility of receiving compensation and support. This obligation includes providing the information in a manner which may be understood by the victim; language or other barriers have to be taken into account. If the victim does not have an adequate command of the German language, an interpreter has to be called in.
- 189. According to Section 70 of the Code of Criminal Procedure, upon initiating investigative proceedings against a person accused, the criminal police or the public prosecutor's office shall inform the victims of their essential rights (Sections 66 and 67). This may only be omitted if the purpose of investigations is jeopardised. Victims, as defined under Section 65, sub-para. 1(a) or 1(b) (victims of violent acts, threat or sexual abuse as well as their next of kin) shall be informed of the prerequisites of procedural assistance no later than before their first examination. Section 70, para. 2 of the Code of Criminal Procedure provides that victims whose sexual integrity could have been impaired, shall be informed of their rights no later than before their first examination, namely: to request to be examined, if possible, by a person of the same sex during investigative proceedings, to refuse to give answers to questions about their most private sphere of life or questions about details of the criminal offence if they find it inacceptable to be expected to describe them (Section 158, para. 1m subpara. 2), to request to be examined with consideration during investigative proceedings and during the main trial (Sections 165, 250 para. 3), to request that the main trial be closed to the public (Section 229, para 2).
- 190. The victims' support organisation "White Ring" ("Weisser Ring") operates a helpline for victims of crime on behalf of the Federal Ministry of Justice. This helpline gives people emotional support and informs them of their rights and how to assert them. Victims are also referred to the relevant organisations that are free and available around the clock.

Article 11 – The right to an adequate standard of living

Reply to the issues raised in paragraph 23 of the list of issues

- 191. Relevant figures about people who are deemed to be at risk of poverty, about population groups, income and living conditions are available at http://www.bmask.gv.at/site/Soziales/Allgemeine_Sozialpolitik/Armut.
- 192. To further develop the existing social security systems of the federal provinces, the means-tested minimum income scheme was introduced in all federal provinces by October 2011.

- 193. Within the framework of the EU's "Europe 2020 Strategy", Austria adopted a national target to reduce the number of individuals living in poverty or social exclusion by at least 235,000 persons within ten years. All relevant measures taken are listed in the Austrian National Reform Programmes (http://ec.europa.eu/europe2020/europe-2020-in-your-country/osterreich/national-reform-programme/index_en.htm) and the National Social Report (http://ec.europa.eu/social/BlobServlet?docId=8731&langId=de).
- 194. The "means-tested equalisation supplement ("Ausgleichszulage") may on a partly means-tested basis apply to people who are, in principle, eligible for a pension. This means that pensions below a specific limit may be raised to the so-called "equalisation supplement reference rate" in cases of financial hardship. Apart from the pensioner's income, the income of spouses or partners is taken into account (but not assets). The overall net annual equalization supplement reference rate (taking into account health insurance contributions) currently amounts to \in 837.63 for single persons and \in 1,255.89 for couples.
- 195. For further details, please also see the answer to the issues raised in paragraph 14 of the list of issues.

Reply to the issues raised in paragraph 24 of the list of issues

- 196. The extent of homelessness in Austria had previously only been documented inadequately. Data on registered homelessness (in the form of national indicators on social inclusion) have now become available. About 12,300 persons were affected by homelessness in 2010; this represents 0.15 per cent of the population.
- 197. Based on a legal provision, the court has to inform the municipality about the initiation of eviction proceedings. In most cases social institutions providing support to persons facing eviction are then informed. As a consequence, a large proportion of impending evictions can be prevented.
- 198. An eviction just like any other enforcement action may be delayed based on the general provision of Section 42 of the Enforcement Regulation (Exekutionsordnung/EO). Moreover, Section 35 of the Tenancy Act (Mietrechtsgesetz /MRG) stipulates that enforcement of an eviction may be delayed if the tenant whose tenancy agreement was terminated with binding effect faces homelessness after eviction from the flat or accommodation and if the delay is deemed acceptable to the landlord according to the circumstances. The delay of eviction must not exceed three months. In cases of exceptional circumstances, another delay may be granted; eviction may not be delayed more than twice and the respective delay granted may not exceed a period of three months

Number of evictions enforced:

Year	Number of evictions enforced (rounded)
2012	4,900
2011	5,300
2010	5,500
2008	5,600
2005	6,800

Examples from the federal provinces

Carinthia

199. In accordance with Title VIII. of the 1997 Housing Subsidies Act of Carinthia (Kärntner Wohnbauförderungsgesetzes/K-WWFG), Provincial Law Gazette No. 60/1997,

as amended in Provincial Law Gazette No. 79/2011 and the 2011 Implementing Ordinance of the Housing Subsidies Act (Wohnbau¬förderungsgesetz – Durchführungsverordnung), Provincial Law Gazette No. 89, the tenant of an apartment may apply for a housing subsidy if the housing expenses of a rented apartment would impose an unreasonable burden on him/her. The aim of the housing subsidy is to reduce the financial burden on low-income tenants – and it is therefore a measure to combat poverty and homelessness.

- 200. The guaranteed minimum income scheme pursuant to Section 12 of the Act on Guaranteed Minimum Income of Carinthia (Kärntner Mindestsicherungsgesetz/K-MSG), Provincial Law Gazette No. 15/2007, as amended in Provincial Law Gazette No. 17/2013, also covers adequate accommodation. In addition, Section 13 of the K-MSG provides for guaranteed social minimum transfers for housing to avoid risks of social hardship. Subsidies may be granted to help the person affected to pay rents in advance, rent arrears or any other amount due to obtain or maintain housing.
- 201. Furthermore, Section 20 of the K-MSG defines guaranteed social minimum transfers for persons facing homelessness and other highly precarious situations. This scheme of guaranteed social minimum transfers preventing homelessness also covers special types of temporary accommodation, particularly in urban areas.

Salzburg

- 202. Persons entitled to permanent residence in Austria, i.e. Austrians, employees from EU Member States and their dependants, persons holding a permanent residence permit and those eligible for asylum may apply for means-tested guaranteed income.
- 203. Transfers from the scheme preventing homelessness are as follows:
 - Living support (expenses related to food, clothes, household goods, etc.);
 - Housing support (adequate housing expenses, including running costs);
 - Inclusion of eligible persons in the statutory health insurance scheme;
 - Support in exceptional life situations in individual cases subject to prior examination and irrespective of receipt of guaranteed minimum income (assistance to maintain, procure and furnish accommodation with a view to safeguarding a long-term basic life support system).
- 204. The following counselling and accommodation centres preventing homelessness are supported on the basis of the aforementioned Act:
 - "Centre for Persons at Risk of Homelessness" ("Fachstelle Gefährdetenhilfe") (information about possibilities of financing rent arrears, negotiations with and mediation between the parties affected, landlords andlawyers, long-term stabilisation of the household);
 - "Railway Station Social Service" ("Bahnhofsozialdienst") and "General Integrative Social Counselling" ("Allgemeine integrative Sozialberatung"); first referral to emergency shelter after clarifying the present situation, referral to other institutions and authorities, development of an assistance plan together with the person affected);
 - "Caritas Emergency Shelter" ("Caritas Notschlafstelle"); minor personal contribution of € 2; besides sleeping accommodation, provision of basic amenities, breakfast, evening meals, personal hygiene, emergency supply of clothes);
 - "St. Vincent de Paul Society" ("Vinzenzgemeinschaft")

- Requests for help are forwarded via point of contact (person, parish)
- Accommodating homeless persons in a flat of their own
- Intensive support after moving in

Upper Austria

205. Based on the Upper Austrian Social Assistance Act 1998 (Oberösterreichisches Sozialhilfegesetz), the Department for Social Affairs – in cooperation with the Department for Housing Subsidies – takes measures against these problems in its project "Affordable Housing" ("Günstiger Wohnraum"). The project provides affordable housing to persons facing eviction and persons evicted. At the initiative of the Department for Housing Subsidies, non-profit house builders provide affordable housing to persons affected by eviction in order to prevent homelessness. The Department for Housing Subsidies does not have any data on homelessness in Upper Austria.

Vienna

206. Wiener Wohnen – the property management organisation of the social housing owned by the City of Vienna – had the following evictions enforced:

Evictions enforced	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012
Non-payment of rent	*	571	596	898	927	973	1.017	955
Inheritance procedures	*	30	26	33	30	27	88	68
Other reasons	*	42	54	61	57	100	48	48
Total evictions	606	643	676	992	1,014	1,100	1,153	1,071
Disaggregated by								
Flats	*	*	*	*	*	*	995	936
Other rented property	*	*	*	*	*	*	158	135
Total evictions	606	643	676	992	1,014	1,100	1,153	1,071
Note: *) disaggregation not possible								

207. Eviction prevention is offered mainly by centres for parent and child support. The families affected are informed in writing about the planned eviction and invited to a counselling meeting. Subsequently, an assistance plan is developed to enable the tenant(s) to continue living in the flat if possible. If the flat cannot be kept, social workers will advise the persons affected on the available services of the Homelessness Assistance Centre of the City of Vienna (Wiener Wohnungslosenhilfe) (Social Vienna Fund/Fonds Soziales Wien).

208. 8,580 homeless persons were accommodated in facilities of the City of Vienna in 2011 (transitional housing, housing for specific target groups, mother-child facilities, assisted living, housing with social assistance). No reliable data are available on the number of homeless persons who have not contacted any institutions for the homeless.

209. In 2012 a law was introduced to prevent forced evictions from flats in social housing estates owned by the City of Vienna. The implementation of the new "Vienna Act Preventing Homelessness" ("Wiener Wohnungssicherungsgesetz"), Provincial Law Gazette No. 33/2012 improves cooperation between municipal institutions to prevent forced evictions and to help people solve social, financial and health problems in connection with their flats.

- 210. Night shelters provide homeless people with a place to sleep without bureaucratic requirements. There are 362 beds in night shelters run by the Social Vienna Fund. Transitional accommodation is provided in temporary residential facilities for up to two years, preparing persons for re-housing in flat of their own or suitable long-term accommodation. A total of 1,237 places are currently available in this service sector. Transitional accommodation for specific target groups provides housing and social support suiting the needs of certain groups of people (e.g. persons with mental health problems, alcohol problems; 426 places).
- 211. Mother-child facilities are designed particularly for homeless mothers of legal age and pregnant women requiring support to stabilise their situation (305 places). Within the framework of assisted living arrangements, social workers provide mobile services to enable their clients to move into their own homes within a maximum of two years and to keep their flat in the long run (1,138 places, May 2013).

Vorarlberg

- 212. The federal province of Vorarlberg entrusted the following social institutions with performing advisory and assistance programmes offered within the framework of the assistance system for the homeless:
 - Caritas Counselling Centre Existence & Housing (Caritas Beratungsstelle Existenz & Wohnen)
 - Counselling and Advisory Centre "DOWAS"
 - Kaplan Bonetti housing projects and counselling centre
 - Institute for Social Services Eviction Prevention and Social Network Housing (Institut f
 ür Sozialdienste – Delogierungspr
 ävention und Soziales Netzwerk Wohnen)
 - Kolpinghaus Götzis
 - Kolpinghaus Bregenz
 - IFS crisis flats
 - IFS women's emergency flat
- 213. Within the framework of mobile support services for the homeless, social workers offer advice and mobile housing assistance. The main tasks are to make available decent and affordable housing, to prevent loss of housing, to safeguard housing on a long-term basis, provide secure living conditions and engage in public relations work.
- 214. Special attention should be drawn to eviction prevention in close cooperation with the municipalities, district courts, non-profit housing institutions and social institutions. The project "Social Network Housing" ("Soziales Netzwerk Wohnen") provides people experiencing acute homelessness with access to non-profit housing.
- 215. Within its system of residential assistance to the homeless, the federal province of Vorarlberg has about 300 places. Even distribution over the territory of Vorarlberg and easy access for persons seeking assistance has been ensured. In addition, the federal province has three emergency night shelters with a total capacity of 21 beds.

Reply to the issues raised in paragraph 25 of the list of issues

216. The agreement between the Federal Republic of Austria and the federal provinces pursuant to article 15a of the Federal Constitution Act (B-VG) on joint measures to provide temporary basic welfare support to foreign nationals in need of help and protection (asylum

seekers, those eligible for asylum, displaced persons and other persons who cannot be expelled from Austria due to legal or factual reasons) in Austria (Agreement on Basic Welfare Support, Federal Law Gazette I No. 80/2004 – Article 15a of the B-VG) came into force on 1 May 2004.

Number of persons receiving basic welfare support (BWS):

	Number BWS 2005	Number BWS 2006	Number BWS 2007	Number BWS 2008	Number BWS 2009	Number BWS 2010	Number BWS 2011	Number BWS 2012	Number BWS 2013
01.01.	27,438	29,118	27,910	24,563	23,468	21,751	18,273	18,376	20,379
01.09.									20,669

217. The implementation of this so-called "Agreement under Section 15a" ensures that all asylum seekers in need of help and protection are provided with the necessary accommodation, food, medical and social services.

218. Moreover, Austria transposes Council Directive 2003/9/EC of 27 January 2003 laying down minimum standards for the reception of asylum seekers in the Member States in a comprehensive manner and meets all other obligations under international law.

Article 12 - The right to physical and mental health

Reply to the issues raised in paragraph 26 of the list of issues

219. With a view to ensuring the financial viability of the Austrian health insurance system, the federal government has adopted different measures, e.g. by allocating substantial funds from the federal government budget to the health insurance institutions and supporting debt reduction. As a prerequisite for these budgetary measures of the federal government the health insurance institutions had to commit themselves to a financial consolidation concept comprising measures that aim at outcome-oriented management and at safeguarding balanced budgeting for the social health insurance system on a long-term basis. Thanks to the financial consolidation and extensive debt reduction of the regional insurance funds, the quality of services provided by the health insurance institutions has been ensured, while creating room for manoeuvre for the further development of the system based on a modern approach.

220. Moreover, the Federal Republic, the federal provinces and the statutory social insurance system agreed as equal stakeholders to establish a healthcare governance system based on partnership. Its aim is to control the structure, organisation and financing of the Austrian health care system ("governance of the healthcare sector"). With a view to realising this concept, the Healthcare Governance Act (Gesundheits-Zielsteuerungsgesetz) was adopted within the framework of the 2013 Act on the Reform of the Healthcare Sector (Gesundheitsreformgesetz), Federal Law Gazette I No. 81/2013.

221. The expected increase in public health care expenditure up to the year 2016 will be aligned, and subsequently coupled, with the projected nominal GDP growth (currently 3.6 per cent). This mechanism ensures the continuous further development of the Austrian healthcare system and its future financial viability. The implementation of the partnership-based healthcare governance system is expected to lead to various improvements in supplying the population with healthcare services, e.g. by improving accessibility of the healthcare sector through better coordination between the hospitals and private practices, enhancing the quality of treatment through health technology assessments (HTA), strengthening patient-orientation in the healthcare sector through integrated supply, in

particular at interfaces; inter-disciplinary supply models may facilitate access to health services and help to close supply gaps.

- 222. The Federal Act on Strengthening Mobile Public Healthcare Services (Bundesgesetz zur Stärkung der ambulanten öffentlichen Gesundheitsversorgung), Federal Law Gazette I No. 61/2010 allowed doctors to cooperate in group practices organised in the legal form of a limited liability company, i.e. Gesellschaft mit beschränkter Haftung (GmbH). Mobile services are more easily reached as they are provided closer to the patients' homes. Patients also benefit from a widened range of services and longer surgery times.
- 223. The aforementioned Act also provided accident insurance coverage for children attending nursery school during (compulsory) nursery school attendance in the year preceding school entry. In accordance with the 2010 Second Amendment of the Social Insurance Law (2. Sozialversicherungs-Änderungsgesetz/SVÄG 2010), Federal Law Gazette I No. 102/2010, persons with disabilities who are active in institutions of occupational therapy recognised by the federal provinces benefit from partial insurance coverage within the accident insurance system. Based on an ordinance (Federal Law Gazette II No. 262/2010), recipients of guaranteed minimum income as well as their eligible dependants were granted partial insurance coverage within the statutory health insurance system based on an agreement between the Federal Republic and the federal provinces on a countrywide means-tested guaranteed minimum income. Compulsory insurance is provided for the period during which the person is eligible to means-tested minimum income. In this context, attention should be drawn to the fact that to date almost the entire Austrian population (with very few exceptions) benefits from protection under the Austrian statutory health insurance system.
- 224. An annual average of more than 32,000 social welfare recipients were included in the statutory health insurance scheme upon introduction of the means-tested guaranteed minimum income (compare Social Report for 2011/2012 of the BMASK, Chapter 8).
- 225. In accordance with the 2012 Amendment of the Social Insurance Law (Sozialversicherungs-Änderungsgesetz/SVÄG), Federal Law Gazette I No. 123/2012, the maternity allowance for self-employed women and female farmers was raised from € 26.97 (value for 2012) to € 50.00 per day. The aforementioned Amendment also introduced an allowance supporting self-employed persons suffering from long-term illnesses. Persons are eligible for this allowance if the continued existence of their enterprise depends on their personal work and if they have no, or fewer than 25, employees. Amounting to € 27.73 per day (value for 2013), the allowance is granted in respect of the same illness as from the 43rd day of their incapacitation for work and for a maximum period of 20 weeks.
- Pursuant the 2012 Amendment of Social Law (Sozialrechtsto Änderungsgesetz/SRÄG 2012), Federal Law Gazette I No. 3/2013, a new benefit was created within the framework of statutory health insurance for persons affected by temporary invalidity (incapacity for work) for at least six months, with effect from 1 January 2014, i.e. the rehabilitation allowance. Receipt of this is subject to the condition that occupational rehabilitation measures are not deemed appropriate or reasonable. During the period of entitlement to rehabilitation allowance, the insured person has to undergo reasonable medical rehabilitation measures. The amount of rehabilitation allowance corresponds to that of sickness allowance.
- 227. Other changes introduced were as follows: in accordance with the 2012 Amendment of the Social Insurance Law, Federal Law Gazette I No. 123/2012 insured persons were exempted from the fee ($\in 10.00$ -/year) charged for the use of the electronic health insurance card for their dependants.

- 228. The 2012 Amendment of Social Law, Federal Law Gazette I No. 3/2013 introduced free self-insurance for the parents of children with disabilities in the statutory health insurance system.
- 229. As far as improvements in the area of dental medicine are concerned, the following has to be pointed out: in Austria, outpatient clinics for dental medicine run by the statutory health insurance institutions were allowed to provide only a specific range of services detailed in the overall agreement. Thus essential services of modern dental medicine, in particular those relating to dental prostheses, were reserved for private doctors and patients were forced to use these private services. With effect from 1 January 2013, this restriction was lifted under the 2012 Amendment of the Social Insurance Law, Federal Law Gazette I No. 123/2012. The spectrum of services of outpatient clinics for dental medicine now also includes fixed crowns and bridges, braces as well as aesthetic fillings and oral hygiene treatment. Luxury services, i.e. measures of a purely cosmetic nature and without any health benefits, are excluded. Comprehensive fixed denture construction, involving high risks due to the large size of the entire structure, is excluded as well. The insured persons only have to pay a contribution covering the costs of non-contractual services. This measure plays an important role in improving the dental health of the population.
- Furthermore, mention should be made of the fact that the range of services in psychotherapy and vaccinations for children and adults was not affected by any major changes. However, other measures were taken in the interest of the insured parties and the population, some of which are highlighted in the following: Psychotherapy: despite several attempts made in the past few years, the parties affected failed to reach an agreement on the conclusion of an overall agreement for this sector. However, the health insurance institutions found regionally differing solutions for establishing a system based on non-cash performance. Within this framework, psychotherapy is available as a service based on noncash performance ("Sachleistung"), not requiring any cost contributions, in particular from socially weak persons and/or persons with severe mental illnesses. Due to the lack of an overall agreement, a statutory cost contribution of € 21.80 per therapy session is refunded to an insured person undergoing psychotherapeutic treatment provided by a registered psychotherapist (if it is deemed to be treatment of an illness and if a medical examination took place within the period stipulated) after submission of an invoice. As the overall agreement is concluded under private law, the respective parties cannot be forced to enter such an agreement.
- 231. Vaccinations: in this context, attention should be drawn to the vaccination concept of the Federal Ministry of Health, which was approved in 1998. This vaccination scheme jointly financed by the aforementioned ministry, the federal provinces and the social insurance provides free vaccinations for children and juveniles up to the age of 15 years. In 2013 the Vaccination Schedule was updated in close cooperation between the Ministry of Health and experts of the National Vaccination Board (Nationales Impfgremium).
- 232. In the past, twelve free vaccinations were offered to children. Two free vaccinations were added to the vaccination concept for children (pneumococci and meningococci). Another important change of the 2013 Vaccination Schedule was to widen access to free measles, mumps and rubella vaccinations now made available to all persons up to the age of 45 years within the framework of the WHO Measles/Rubella Eradication Programme.

Reply to the issues raised in paragraph 27 of the list of issues

233. The Federal Ministry of Health cannot yet provide any information on the impact of the National Action Plan on Food as it consists of long-term measures and the period since its adoption has been too short to report on tangible results.

Articles 13 and 14 - The right to education

Reply to the issues raised in paragraph 28 of the list of issues

- 234. No statistical data based on ethnic origin are available; attention is drawn to the fact that with regard to the principle of the "freedom of declaring oneself member of an ethnic minority" (compare Section 1, para. 3 of the Ethnic Groups Act and the Framework Agreement on the Protection of National Minorities) persons are not assigned to ethnic groups in Austria.
- 235. A governmental inquiry whether an individual belongs to an ethnic group is precluded as a matter of principle in Austria (in this connection compare Section 1, para. 3 of the Ethnic Groups Act). Moreover, no generally recognised clear definition of the concept of "ethnic group" based on concrete indicators is currently available, and there is no unanimous reply to the question for how long the period of holding Austrian citizenship (by the person affected or his/her ancestors) is considered relevant for a "migration background". Therefore, educational statistics do not, at least at present, provide for any categories of "ethnic belonging" and "migration background".
- 236. In 2008 binding "Guidelines on the Differentiation and Classification Measures Relating to the Assessment of Special Educational Needs" ("Richtlinien für Differenzierungs- und Steuerungsmaßnahmen im Zusammenhang mit der Feststellung des sonderpädagogischen Förderbedarfs") were created to ensure inter alia that persons who could be classified as belonging to one of the relevant groups at risk due to their physical appearance do not suffer disadvantages in their school careers based on the unjustified assessment that they require "special education" (Decree No. 19/2018 of the Minister of Education). They highlight the fact that "the mere failure to master the language of instruction…may by no means be used as a criterion for assessing eligibility for special education".
- 237. The target group of juveniles at risk of dropping out of school or of social exclusion is described in a very general manner and not limited to clearly definable groups of persons. Based on instructions issued by the Minister of Labour and Social Affairs and in cooperation with the Federal Ministry of Education, Arts and Culture, the Federal Social Offices are responsible for realising measures within the programme of "youth coaching" which have been designed to reduce the drop-out rate and facilitate a smooth transition from school to work.
- 238. Austria attaches great importance to supporting educational careers but in principle avoids measures of segregation in the educational system. In general, the Austrian educational system strives to optimise learning processes by providing remedial support. Additional support is granted to Roma associations which use Roma mediators or take measures to meet the acute, short-term demand for intensive learning assistance and counselling in everyday school life (e.g. in the project "RomBus" conceived as a "rolling classroom"). If Roma children require intensive remedial support, specialised Roma associations or Roma mediators contact school headmasters, school psychologists and other public or private institutions to initiate access to tailored support.
- 239. By way of conclusion, we may report that different Roma associations have offered publicly funded assisted learning programmes for Roma for about 16 years to achieve the goal of completed educational pathways. As a consequence, only three Roma children requiring special pedagogical support attend special needs centres or integration classrooms in the autochthonous settlement area of the Roma in Burgenland.

Article 15 – Cultural rights

Reply to the issues raised in paragraph 29 of the list of issues

- 240. Non-autochthonous ethnic minorities not qualifying as "ethnic groups" (see the reply to the issues raised in paragraph 5 of the list of issues) benefit from special educational programmes consisting of "mother tongue education" ("muttersprachlicher Unterricht"). In recent years mother tongue lessons were given by a total of about 400 teachers to more than 30,000 pupils in more than 20 languages.
- 241. As far as religious minorities are concerned, it should be highlighted that based on the Austrian Constitution everybody may as a matter of principle practise his/her religion alone or together with others, privately or publicly. Moreover, "non-autochthonous" religious communities that migrated to Austria in various periods of the past may be granted special legal status. In May 2013 recognition was granted to the "Islamic-Alevist Religious Community in Austria"; hence, this community enjoys legal equality with Churches having a long-standing tradition in Austria, in particular the Catholic and Protestant Churches. (For the Alevites full equality with other Churches in a country and not only in individual provinces or cantons is unique worldwide.)

Annexes

Annex I

Political representation of women and men: Federal Government, Parliament (National Council), Federal Council, Federal Provinces, Government of the Federal Province

Federal Government

Gender	Absolute	Percentage
Men	12	67
of whom ministers	8	57
Women	6	33
of whom ministers	6	43
Total	18	100

Parliament (National Council)

Gender	SPÖ	%	ÖVP	%	Greens	%	FPÖ	%	BZÖ	%	Total	%
Women	20	35	13	25	10	50	6	18	3	14	52	28
Men	37	65	38	75	10	50	28	82	18	86	131	72
Total	57	100	51	100	20	100	34	100	21	100	183	100

Last update: September 2012

Federal Council

Gender	SPÖ	%	ÖVP	%	Greens	%	FPÖ	%	o.Z.*)	%	Total	%
Women	9	41	5	19	2	50	2	22	0	0	18	29
Men	13	59	21	81	2	50	7	78	1	100	44	71
Total	22	100	26	100	4	100	9	100	1	100	62	100

^{*)} without affiliation Last update: July 2013

Government of the Federal of Burgenland

gender	absolute	percentage
Women	2	29
Men	5	71
Total	7	100

Parliament of the Federal Province of Burgenland

Gender	SPÖ	%	ÖVP	%	Greens	%	FPÖ	%	o.Z.*)	%	Total	%
Women	5	26	1	8	0	0	1	50	0	0	7	19

Gender	SPÖ	%	ÖVP	%	Greens	%	FPÖ	%	o.Z.*)	%	Total	%
Men	14	74	12	92	1	100	1	50	1	100	29	81
Total	19	100	13	100	1	100	2	100	1	100	36	100

Government of the Federal *) Province of Burgenland Last update: September 2012

Government of the Federal Province of Carinthia

gender	absolute	percentage
Women	2	29
Men	5	71
Total	7	100

Parliament of the Federal Province of Carinthia

gender	SPÖ	%	ÖVP	%	Greens	%	FPK	%	Stronach	%	BZÖ	%	Total	%
Women	2	14	1	20	3	60	0	0	1	25	1	50	8	22
Men	12	86	4	80	2	40	6	100	3	75	1	50	28	78
Total	14	100	5	100	5	100	6	100	4	100	2	100	36	100

Last updated: July 2013

Government of the Federal Province of Lower Austria

gender	absolute	percentage
Women	4	44
Men	5	56
Total	9	100

Parliament of the Federal Province of Lower Austria

gender	SPÖ	%	ÖVP	%	Greens	%	FPÖ	%	FRANK	%	Total	%
Women	5	38	3	10	3	75	1	25	1	20	13	23
Men	8	62	27	90	1	25	3	75	4	80	43	77
Total	13	100	30	100	4	100	4	100	5	100	56	100

Last updated: July 2013

Government of the Federal Province of Upper Austria

gender	absolute	percentage
Women	1	11
Men	8	89
Total	9	100

Parliament of the Federal Province of Upper Austria

gender	SPÖ	%	ÖVP	%	Greens	%	FPÖ	%	Total	%
Women	7	50	11	39	3	60	3	33	24	43

gender	SPÖ	%	ÖVP	%	Greens	%	FPÖ	%	Total	%
Men	7	50	17	61	2	40	6	67	32	57
Total	14	100	28	100	5	100	9	100	56	100

Last update: September 2012

Government of the Federal Province of Salzburg

gender	absolute	percentage
Women	2	29
Men	5	71
Total	7	100

Parliament of the Federal Province of Salzburg

gender	SPÖ	%	ÖVP	%	Greens	%	FPÖ	%	Stronach	%	Total	%
Women	4	44	5	45	3	43	1	17	1	33	14	39
Men	5	56	6	55	4	57	5	83	2	67	22	61
Total	9	100	11	100	7	100	6	100	3	100	36	100

Last update: July 2013

Government of the Federal Province of Styria

gender	absolute	percentage
Women	3	33
Men	6	67
Total	9	100

Parliament of the Federal Province of Styria

gender	$SP\ddot{O}$	%	ÖVP	%	KPÖ	%	FPÖ	%	Greens	%	Total	%
Women	7	30	7	32	1	50	0	0	2	67	17	30
Men	16	70	15	68	1	50	6	100	1	33	39	70
Total	23	100	22	100	2	100	6	100	3	100	56	100

Last update: September 2012

Government of the Federal Province of Tyrol (Last update: September 2012)

gender	absolute	percentage
Women	4	50
Men	4	50
Total	8	100

Parliament of the Federal Province of Tyrol

gender	SPÖ	%	ÖVP	%	Greens	%	FPÖ	%	FRITZ	%	TIROL	%	Total	%
Women	2	40	4	25	2	40	1	25	1	50	2	50	12	33

gender	SPÖ	%	ÖVP	%	Greens	%	FPÖ	%	FRITZ	%	TIROL	%	Total	%
Men	3	60	12	75	3	60	3	75	1	50	2	50	24	67
Total	5	100	16	100	5	100	4	100	2	100	4	100	36	100

Last update: July 2013

Government of the Federal Province of Vorarlberg

gender	absolute	percentage
Women	2	29
Men	5	71
Total	7	100

Parliament of the Federal Province of Vorarlberg

gender	SPÖ	%	ÖVP	%	Greens	%	F*)	%	Total	%
Women	2	67	7	35	2	50	2	22	13	36
Men	1	33	13	65	2	50	7	78	23	64
Total	3	100	20	100	4	100	9	100	36	100

^{*)} the Freedom Party Last update: September 2012

Government of the Federal Province of Vienna

gender	absolute	percentage
Women	6	46
Men	7	54
Total	13	100

Parliament of the Federal Province of Vienna

gender	SPÖ	%	ÖVP	%	Greens	%	FPÖ	%	o.Z.*)	%	Total	%
Women	21	43	5	42	4	36	4	15	0	0	34	34
Men	28	57	7	58	7	64	23	85	1	100	66	66
Total	49	100	12	100	11	100	27	100	1	100	100	100

^{*)} without affiliation Last update: September 2012

Annex IA

Table: Women in the highest salary brackets (in the individual ministries)

	Highest salary brackets of all occupational	Proportion of women TARGET 2015 (31/12)	Proportion of women TARGET 2013 (31/12)	Proportion of women ACTUAL VALUE 31/12/2012
	groups	in %	in %	in %
Office of the Federal				_
President	A1/7-9 and			
	similar	16.7%	16.7%	20.0%
	A1/4-6 and			
	similar	25.0%	25.0%	37.5%
	A2/5-8 and	57.10/	57 10/	57.10/
	similar	57.1%	57.1%	57.1%
	A3/5-8 and similar	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%
D. 11	Sililiai	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%
Parliamentary Administration				
Administration	A1/7-9 and	50.00/	40.00/	42.10/
	similar	50.0%	40.0%	42.1%
	A1/4-6 and similar	45.0%	45.0%	47.2%
		45.070	45.0%	47.270
	A2/5-8 and similar	50.0%	50.0%	56.0%
	A3/5-8 and	30.070	30.070	30.070
	similar	50.0%	50.0%	50.0%
Constitutional Court				
Constitutional Court	A1/7-9 and			
	similar	75.0%	100.0%	60.0%
	A1/4-6 and			
	similar	70.0%	70.0%	47.4%
	A2/5-8 and			
	similar	70.0%	0.0%	100.0%
	A3/5-8 and			
	similar	70.0%	100.0%	83.3%
Administrative Court				
	A1/7-9 and			
	similar	25.0%	25.0%	16.4%
	A1/4-6 and			
	similar	50.0%	50.0%	40.0%
	A2/5-8 and			
	similar	50.0%	50.0%	50.0%
	A3/5-8 and			
	similar	50.0%	50.0%	71.4%
Ombudsman Board				

		Proportion of	Proportion of	Proportion of
	Highest salary	women	women	women
	brackets of all occupational	TARGET 2015 (31/12)	TARGET 2013 (31/12)	ACTUAL VALUE 31/12/2012
	groups	in %	in %	in %
	A1/7-9 and			
	similar	40.0%	40.0%	28.6%
	A1/4-6 and			
	similar	55.0%	55.0%	67.9%
	A2/5-8 and similar	70.0%	75.0%	71.4%
	A3/5-8 and	70.0%	73.0%	71.470
	similar	70.0%	80.0%	60.0%
Court of Auditors				
	A1/7-9 and			
	similar	30.0%	40.0%	22.2%
	A1/4-6 and			
	similar	38.0%	35.0%	33.0%
	A2/5-8 and	42.00/	40.00/	44 00/
	similar	42.0%	40.0%	44.8%
	A3/5-8 and similar	72.7%	72.7%	72.7%
Federal Chancellery	Sillina	72.770	72.770	72.770
	A1/7-9 and			
	similar	35.9%	30.0%	37.5%
	A1/4-6 and			
	similar	45.5%	45.1%	48.2%
	A2/5-8 and	57.00/	50.10/	57.20/
	similar	57.0%	58.1%	57.3%
	A3/5-8 and similar	70.5%	70.5%	73.3%
Ministry of the Interior	S	7 0.10 70	701070	,5.5,0
•	A1/7-9 and			
	similar	8.0%	8.0%	7.4%
	A1/4-6 and			
	similar	24.5%	22.5%	24.3%
	A2/5-8 and	25.00/	22.70/	26.00/
	similar	25.0%	22.7%	26.9%
	A3/5-8 and similar	4.5%	4.5%	5.7%
Ministry for European and				21,70
International Affairs	A1/7-9 and			
	similar	17.0%	17.0%	17.6%
	A1/4-6 and			
	similar	35.0%	34.0%	32.1%
	A2/5-8 and			
	similar	42.0%	42.0%	38.1%
	A3/5-8 and similar	55.0%	35.0%	53.3%
	SIIIIIar	33.0%	33.0%	33.3%

	Highest salary	Proportion of women	Proportion of women	Proportion of women
	brackets of all occupational groups	TARGET 2015 (31/12) in %	TARGET 2013 (31/12) in %	ACTUAL VALUE 31/12/2012 in %
Ministry of Justice				
	A1/7-9 and			
	similar	40.0%	40.0%	26.8%
	A1/4-6 and			
	similar	40.0%	40.0%	39.6%
	A2/5-8 and	40.00/	40.00/	29.50/
	similar	40.0%	40.0%	38.5%
	A3/5-8 and similar	45.1%	45.1%	40.2%
Ministry of Defence and	Sillitai	43.170	43.170	40.270
Sport Sport	A1/7-9 and			
1	similar	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%
	A1/4-6 and			
	similar	5.5%	4.5%	6.4%
	A2/5-8 and			
	similar	9.5%	9.3%	10.3%
	A3/5-8 and			
	similar	9.6%	9.1%	9.2%
Ministry of Finance				
	A1/7-9 and			
	similar	27.4%	27.4%	25.0%
	A1/4-6 and	20.00/	20.00/	27.00/
	similar	38.0%	38.0%	37.8%
	A2/5-8 and similar	29.0%	27.2%	28.2%
	A3/5-8 and	29.0%	27.270	28.270
	A5/5-8 and similar	51.5%	51.5%	56.7%
Ministry of Labour, Social				
Affairs and Consumer	A1/7-9 and			
Protection	similar	43.0%	41.2%	27.8%
	A1/4-6 and			
	similar	43.4%	40.0%	40.0%
	A2/5-8 and			
	similar	52.5%	52.0%	50.0%
	A3/5-8 and			
	similar	73.9%	67.7%	71.4%
Ministry of Health				
	A1/7-9 and	40.007	40.004	22.204
	similar	40.0%	40.0%	33.3%
	A1/4-6 and	50.00/	50.00/	51 70/
	similar	50.0%	50.0%	51.7%
	A2/5-8 and similar	65.0%	62.7%	67.8%
	Silling	05.070	02.770	07.070

	Highest salary brackets of all occupational groups	Proportion of women TARGET 2015 (31/12) in %	Proportion of women TARGET 2013 (31/12) in %	Proportion of women ACTUAL VALUE 31/12/2012 in %
	A3/5-8 and			
Ministry of Education, Arts	similar	70.0%	70.0%	62.5%
and Culture	A1/7-9 and similar	40.0%	15.8%	34.3%
	A1/4-6 and similar	40.0%	29.0%	36.9%
	A2/5-8 and similar	51.2%	51.2%	54.9%
	A3/5-8 and similar	81.3%	81.3%	80.7%
Ministry of Science and Research				
Research	A1/7-9 and similar	40.0%	40.0%	33.3%
	A1/4-6 and similar	43.5%	42.3%	39.8%
	A2/5-8 and similar	61.7%	61.8%	61.8%
	A3/5-8 and similar	64.7%	66.7%	81.0%
Ministry of Economy,				
Family and Youth	A1/7-9 and similar	40.0%	40.0%	31.3%
	A1/4-6 and			
	similar	40.0%	40.0%	39.2%
	A2/5-8 and similar	40.0%	40.0%	28.8%
	A3/5-8 and	101070	101070	20.070
	similar	40.0%	40.0%	23.5%
Ministry of Transport,	A1/7-9 and			
Innovation and Technology	similar	40.0%	40.0%	41.7%
	A1/4-6 and similar	40.0%	40.0%	32.2%
	A2/5-8 and similar	44.0%	44.0%	43.8%
	A3/5-8 and similar	40.0%	40.0%	56.1%
Ministry of Agriculture,				
Forestry, Environment and Water Management	A1/7-9 and similar	25.0%	23.0%	26.3%
	A1/4-6 and	45.0%	43.0%	42.4%

	III 1 1	Proportion of	Proportion of	Proportion of
	Highest salary brackets of all	women TARGET 2015	women TARGET 2013	women ACTUAL VALUE
	occupational	(31/12)	(31/12)	31/12/2012
	groups	in %	in %	in %
	similar			
	A2/5-8 and			
	similar	55.0%	53.3%	56.7%
	A3/5-8 and			
	similar	62.0%	60.6%	65.7%
A1/7-9 and similar:	e.g. directors-	-general, directors	, heads of large s	ubordinate bodies
A1/4-6 and similar:	e.g. heads of unit		-	partment, heads of ubordinate bodies
A2/5-8 and similar:		ads of department te bodies, desk off		
A3/5-8 and similar:		e.g. desk off	icers in relatively	high-grade posts
Occupational groups taken	all occupa	tional groups at fe	deral level (admi	nistrative service,
into account:	teachers, police	men, military, jud	ges and public pr	osecutors, nurses,
			5	school inspectors)

Annex II

Gross annual income of full-time, full-year employees

	Quartiles/ average	Women	Men	Difference (%)
2011	1st quartile (25%)	23,486	29,982	21.7
(€)	Median (50%)	31,598	38,776	18.5
	3rd quartile (75%)	43,802	54,411	19.5
	Average	36,256	47,413	23.5
2010	1st quartile (25%)	22,672	29,393	22.9
(€)	Median (50%)	30,775	38,056	19.1
	3rd quartile (75%)	42,736	53,449	20.0
	Average	35,268	46,494	24.1
2009	1st quartile (25%)	22,353	29,057	23.1
(€)	Median (50%)	30,227	37,510	19.4
	3rd quartile (75%)	41,988	52,936	20.7
	Average	34,619	46,002	24.7
2008	1st quartile (25%)	21,692	28,649	24.3
(€)	Median (50%)	29,183	36,893	20.9
	3rd quartile (75%)	40,295	51,535	21.8
	Average	33,328	45,111	26.1
2007	1st quartile (25%)	20,669	27,720	25.4
(€)	Median (50%)	27,979	35,674	21.6
	3rd quartile (75%)	38,490	49,707	22.6
	Average	31,724	43,563	27.2
2006	1st quartile (25%)	20,327	27,183	25.2
(€)	Median (50%)	27,276	34,879	21.8
	3rd quartile (75%)	37,304	48,503	23.1
	Average	30,891	42,445	27.2
2005	1st quartile (25%)	19,751	26,456	25.3
(€)	Median (50%)	26,343	33,770	22.0
	3rd quartile (75%)	35,891	46,816	23.3
	Average	29,831	41,069	27.4

Source: Statistics Austria, Wage Tax Data – Evaluation of Social Statistics (excluding apprentices).

Figures 2005-2009 made available by Statistics Austria (15 Feb. 2011); figures 2010, 2011 made available by Statistics Austria (1 Feb. 2013); based on the definitions used since the General Report on Income of the Court of Auditors 2006. Compare also Court of Auditors' Report 2012, table 21, p.47

Annex III: Income disadvantage of women based on selected sections of ÖNACE 2008 in 2011

			All employees	es Full-year, full-time employm							
ÖNACE 2008	Median gross	annual income	Women's median	Median gross a	nnual income	Women's median					
Sections	Women	Men	as a % of men's median	Women	Men	as a % of men's median					
Mining and quarrying	22,467	35,889	63	39,853	42,209	94					
Manufacturing	21,823	36,287	60	28,419	39,648	72					
Energy supply	31,824	54,947	58	43,972	58,956	75					
Water supply; sewerage and remediation activities	17,597	29,742	59	29,451	32,828	90					
Construction	17,051	27,772	61	30,095	33,763	89					
Wholesale and retail trade; maintenance repair of motor vehicles and motorcycles	16,633	28,553	58	26,205	34,214	77					
Transportation and storage	20,836	30,833	68	31,237	34,932	89					
Accommodation and food service activities	8,583	11,308	76	20,049	22,990	87					
Information and communication	26,988	45,469	59	41,101	53,372	77					
Financial and insurance activities	31,150	55,816	56	42,583	61,350	69					
Real estate activities	18,120	29,762	61	29,677	43,528	68					
Professional, scientific and technical activities	20,140	35,146	57	33,180	48,424	69					
Administrative and support service activities	12,403	17,756	70	24,170	29,254	83					
Public administration and defence; public social security	30,531	42,219	72	40,311	44,994	90					
Education	17,000	21,823	78	33,962	48,940	69					
Human health and social work activities	19,264	26,584	72	31,009	36,881	84					
Art, entertainment and recreation	11,000	19,896	55	28,509	36,364	78					
Other service activities	15,689	28,713	55	23,712	38,459	62					
Total	18,549	30,690	60	31,598	38,776	81					

Source: Statistics Austria, 2012. Wage tax data and data of the Federation of Austrian Social Insurance Institutions. From: General Income Report of the Court of Auditors 2012, p. 81; excluding apprentices.

Annex IV

Average gross annual income of employees by federal province in 2011

		Average (€)	Difference (%)	Median (€)	Difference (%)
Burgenland	Women	22,305	-39.1	19,293	-40.1
	Men	36,652		32,231	
Carinthia	Women	21,118	-39.2	17,946	-41.2
	Men	34,747		30,538	
Lower Austria	Women	23,552	-39.8	20,230	-39.0
	Men	39,095		33,186	
Upper Austria	Women	20,804	-44.8	18,221	-45.4
	Men	37,671		33,343	
Salzburg	Women	20,512	-40.9	17,695	-41.9
	Men	34,685		30,431	
Styria	Women	20,815	-40.2	17,774	-43.0
	Men	34,822		31,179	
Tyrol	Women	18,894	-43.3	16,237	-46.2
	Men	33,302		30,204	
Vorarlberg	Women	19,452	-48.2	16,596	-51.9
	Men	37,547		34,476	
Vienna	Women	25,780	-26.6	21,439	-21.6
	Men	35,130		27,342	
Austria	Women	22,157	-38.8	18,783	-40.1
	Men	36,218		31,356	

Note: Excluding apprentices. Difference: percentage difference between women's and men's income. The data have been allocated based on the place of residence, not on the place of work of a person.

Source: Statistics Austria, 2012. Wage tax data and data of the Federation of Austrian Social Insurance Institutions. From: General Income Report of the Court of Auditors 2012, p. 282. Calculations by Statistics Austria.

 $Annex\ V \\ {\tt ANNEX}\ 5\text{-}{\tt OCCUPATIONAL}\ {\tt ACCIDENTS}\ {\tt Recognised}\ {\tt occupational}\ {\tt accidents}\ {\tt of}\ {\tt employees},\ {\tt excluding}\ {\tt travel}\ {\tt to/from}\ {\tt work}\ {\tt in}\ {\tt 2010}$

Occupational accidents		Agriculture and forestry;	Mining and quarrying	Manufacturing	Energy supply	Water supply, sewerage, waste management and remediation activities	Construction	Wholesale and retail trade; repair of motor vehicles and motorcycles	Transportation and storage	Accommodation and food service activities	Information and communication	Financial and insurance activities	Real estate activities	Professional, scientific and technical activities	Administrative and support service activities	Public administration and defence; compulsory social security	Education	Human health and social work activities	Arts, entertainment and recreation	Other service activities	Private households with domestic staff, production of goods and growston of services by private households for their own requirements, without any special focus	Exterritorial organisations and local authorities	Economic classification unknown; not existing, not relevants ⁾
Causes of injury	TOTAL	A	В	С	D.	E	F	G	Н		J	K	L	M	N	0	Р	Q	R	S		U	шары
Contact with electricity, high temperatures,	1 00000			100			500 9000		200 070		100	1,0			2,000	20.50	100	10000					
hazardous substances	3 2'806	- 4	- 4	- 813	- 47	- 28	1 422	1 242	1 56	- 324	- 2	- 10	- 3	- 36	- 219	- 178	- 28	- 196	- 15	- 31	•		- 148
Including: Contact with a naked flame or hot or burning objects or with an environment of this type Contact with hazardous substances - on/through skin and eyes	- 1'35' - 99'	- 3	3 - 1 - 2	- 419 - 272	- 14		1984		200		- 1	- 4	15	- 11	- 88 5 - 90	20.00		- 84 - 89	15	- 16 - 12	SI .		- 76 - 53
Drowning, being covered by, buried under, surrounded by, enclosed in	2 76	1 1	- 1	- 15	- 2	- 2	- 25	- 7		- 1	- 1			- 1	- 6	- 4	1 1	- 4	_ 2		8		- 3
Vertical or horizontal impact upon/against a fixed object (victim is moving) - without further details	36 25 670	2 214	1 81	5 4'415	- 194	2 279	9 4'832	3 3'271	5 2'049	9 - 1'357	- 192	- 249	- 255	- 410	6 2'441	- 1'554	- 297	- 1560	- 447	2 407		8 - 10	1 1'148
Vertical movement, impact upon (falling)	32 15 98			3 2461	- 118	2 170	8 3'257		5 1'288				- 175	- 256	6 1'505			- 931	- 248	1 247	-	7 - 7	1 926
Horizontal movement, bouncing against something	1 5'224	- 28	- 11	- 1'080	- 38	- 61	- 824	- 827	- 406	- 211	- 39	- 44	- 40	- 69	- 501	- 308	- 67	- 335	122	1 81	F	2	- 130
Any other type of vertical or horizontal impact on/against a fixed object (the victim is moving) Hit by/collision with a moving object	3 4465 19 13'844	THE STATE OF	- 16 - 36	2 874 2 3'241	- 38 1 105		10000	4000000	3300 33000	02000	50.50	- 51 - 68	500		- 435 - 1'193		1000	- 294 - 512	- 77 - 277	- 79 - 159		1 - 1	- 92 3 685
including: Being hit by a falling object Being hit by a turning, moving, shifting object Being hit by a flying object Other ways of being hit by/colliding with a moving	5 7'369 4 2'056 1 1'996	1 58	- 4	1 1'756 - 527 - 563	- 45 - 19 - 20	- 30	1 435	1 295	1 438 - 95 1 63	- 46	- 21 - 9 - 2	- 22 - 6 - 3	- 12	- 64 - 15 - 16	692 5 - 152 6 - 158	- 83	- 8	- 194 - 72 - 56	- 69 - 33 - 29	- 75 - 30 - 13	9 6	1	1 342 1 127 - 118
object Collision with a moving object (the victim is moving) with a person	- 1'094 9 1'069		2 - 1	- 207 1 113	- 11 1 8	100	- 147 1 78			2000	- 10 - 14	- 12 - 25	5555	- 23	- 105	100	30	- 73 - 114	- 16 129	- 17 - 21			- 32 1 54
Contact with a sharp, pointed, hard, coarse			19									4							-				
object	4 31 626	- 160	- 54	3 8'117	- 196	- 211	- 6'028	- 4'554	1 732	- 2'220	- 55	- 107	- 100	- 289	- 2'456	- 1'602	- 219	- 2324	- 159	- 369	*	3 - 2	- 1'669
Contact with a sharp object (knife, blade, etc.) Contact with a hard or coarse object	- 15'102 4 6'754	- 76	- 21	- 3'979 3 1'821	- 79 - 45	- 74	- 2'816	- 2'701	- 180	- 1'702	- 24	- 40 - 36	- 56	- 137	- 1'038 - 631		- 99	- 532	- 53 - 58	- 190 - 87	1	2 - 1	- 888 - 398
Contact with a pointed object (needle, nail, tool, etc.)	- 5'113	- 26	5 - 3	- 821	- 21	- 18	- 835	5 - 324	- 61	1 - 105	- 5	- 16	- 13	- 38	- 343	- 749	- 11	- 1'390	- 17	- 48	5	3 (S) (S	- 269
Any other contact with a sharp, pointed, hard, coarse object	- 4'657	- 28	- 11	- 1'496	- 51	- 51	- 1'059	- 581	- 108	- 219	- 4	- 15	- 13	- 47	- 444	- 155	- 39	- 146	- 31	- 44	181	1	- 114
Being pressed into, squeezed by/into, crushed, etc. including:	19 9'148		100	4 3'084			The second	200	1000		200		7120			No. Volume	1	27,5000	0.000	- 99	2	1 - 3	3 414
Being pressed, squeezed, crushed between Being pressed, squeezed, crushed in	4 4'328 3 3'147 9 1'199	- 19	- 14	2 1'495 1 1'064 1 356	- 28 - 20 - 6	- 38	1 472	- 409	- 176	- 111	- 10	- 14 - 27	200	- 29 - 28		- 86	- 15		- 29 - 23	- 47 - 38	ž	2 1 - 1	- 116 1 200 1 74
Being pressed, squeezed, crushed under Acute excessive physical stress, acute excessive mental stress		10.00	- 22	0.000		7970	10000		- 530	1	- 37	- 61	- 41	- 87	200	75465	1941		- 182	- 94		1 - 2	
including: Excessive physical stress - musculoskeletal system	- 6'928	3 - 40	- 21	- 1'398	- 74	- 85	- 1'461	- 883	- 513	3 - 205	- 35	- 52	- 41	- 85	- 607	- 428	- 64	- 442	177	- 92	8	1 - 2	- 222
Bite, kick, etc (by animal or person) including:	- 1'334		- 1	- 37	- 4	- 6	100		500		- 9	- 4	- 5	- 28			*****	- 272	1700	- 38	•	1	- 73
Blow, kick, bang with head, strangling Bite Any other bits, kick, etc. (by opine) or parson)	- 818 - 238 - 210	- 2		- 22	- 1	- 3 - 2	- 27	65 - 18			- 4	- 3	- 3	- 5 - 15	- 133 - 19	- 21	- 1	- 170 - 62 - 37	- 34 - 2	- 15 - 14	1	1	- 52 - 11
Any other bite, kick, etc. (by animal or person) Any other contact/type of injury not listed in this classification	- 174	- :	2 - 1	- 8	- 1	- 1	- 29		- 13	3 - 7	- 1	- 1	- 4	- 6	3 - 13	- 10	- 2	- 18	- 4	- 3			- 6
No data	1 1'181	- 8		- 259	- 6	- 6	- 228	- 139	- 66	- 90	- 5	- 6	- 7	- 11	- 96	- 34	- 13	- 54	- 29	- 13		1	1 105
Occupational accidents, total	84 92 954	8 684	1 238	14 21'458	1 687	3 850	18 17'527	7 12'688	13 5'074	- 4'981	- 379	- 550	- 506	- 1'070	6 8'042	2 4'775	1 789	- 5'696	- 1'237	2 1'213		5 - 18	8 4'477

Annex VI: Occupational_Acc	idents_	2011	_EN	1																			
		Agriculture and forestry, fishing	Mining and quarrying	Manufa	Energy supply	Water supply; sewerage, waste management and remediation activities	Construction	Wholesale and retail trade, repair of motor vehicles and motorcycles	Transportation and storage	Accommodation and food service activities	Information and communication	Financial and insurance activities	Real estate activities	Professional, scientific and technical activities	Administrative and support service activities	Public administration and defence, compulsory social security	Education	Human health and social work activities	Arts, entertrainment and recreation	Private households with domestic staff, production of goods and provision of services by private	Private households with domestic staff, production of goods and provision of services by private households	Exterritorial organis ations and local authorities	conomic classification
Occupational accidents Causes of injury Contact with electricity, high temperatures,	TOTAL	A	В	С	D	Е	F	G	Н	- 1	J	K	L	М	N	0	Р	Q	R	S	T	U	ш
hazardous substances including:	8 2.926	- :	3 -	2 3 855	- 33	- 34	1 46	3 270	1 53	- 353	- 8		4 -	6 - 23	- 260	- 196	- 3	4 - 24	18 - 1	3 - 38	-		- 3
Contact with naked flame or hot or burning objects or with an environment of this type	1 1.437	- 1	1 -	2 1 420	- 11	- 13	- 159	9 - 139	- 22	- 280	- 4		1 -	3 - 11	- 117	- 82	- 10	6 - 10	15 - 1	3 - 30	-		1:
Contact with hazardous substances - on/through skin and eyes	1 1.055	- 2	2 -	- 1 308	- 8	- 15	- 211	2 - 80	- 24	- 56	- 1	- :	3 -	3 - 9	- 96	- 98	- 1º	1 - 10	16 - :	3 - 6	-		1
Drowning, being covered by, buried under, surrounded by, enclosed in	0 57			14			- 20	5 - 3	- 2	- 1				- 1	- 7	- 2			1 -		-		
Vertical movement, impact upon/against a fixed object (victim is moving)	26 23.041	1 222	2 1	68 4 4.057	- 197		11 4.73		2 1.781	- 1.324							- 32				- 1:	-	6 4 38
Vertical movement, impact upon (falling) Horizontal movement, bouncing against something	22 15.225 3 4.486	1 155 - 36		43 4 2.414 12 - 982	- 139 - 36			1	1 1.185 1 335	1		- 14				1 843 - 227	- 21: - 6:	1		2 - 253 7 - 69	- 12	-	4 2 29 - 2 5
Any other type of vertical or horizontal impact on/against a fixed object (the victim is moving) Hit by/collision with a moving object	1 3.330 21 13.956	- 31 4 219	1	13 - 661 39 2 3.300	- 22 1 92			5 - 433 0 2 2.171		- 175 1 396	- 18 - 47	- 3	٦ -		- 369 3 1.443	- 202 - 515	- 4: - 12:			1	-	-	2 - 3
including:		1 76									. 14									1 - 80] -
Being hit by a falling object Being hit by a turning, moving, shifting object	6 7.308 5 2.495		ĭ	26 - 1.848 6 1 560	- 36 - 13		1	1 2 1.252 4 - 375	I	1		- 2			1 848 - 225	- 207 - 108	- 5	-			-	-	1 - 12i - 1 4
Being hit by a flying object Collision with a moving object (the victim is	1 1.960	- 39	9 -	3 - 537	- 28	- 21	- 560	3 - 228	- 76	- 23	- 1	- 1	0 -	6 - 14	1 193	- 74	- 1:	3 - 5	3 - 3	- 10	-	-	3
moving)/with a person	5 1.004	- (5 -	1 1 125	1 2	- 8	- 7:				- 13	- 2	3 -	3 - 15	1 65	- 67	- 20				-	-	- 1 1
Contact with a sharp, pointed, hard, coarse object	3 32.094	- 194	1	53 1 8.688	- 178						- 69						- 23				- :	-	1 - 48:
Contact with sharp object (knife, blade) Contact with sharp or coarse object	0 16.245 3 7.234	- 98	8 - 5 -	20 - 4.641 23 1 2.028	- 85 - 48		- 3.22				ı	- 2			- 1.347 - 778	- 481 - 278	- 110	6 - 53 4 - 29		- 198	- '	1	24 1 - 8
Contact with sharp object (needle, nail, tool, etc.)	0 5.347	- 22		5 - 923	- 21			1	I	- 92		- 1	1 - 2		- 407	- 780	- 21			5 - 51		-	- 11
Other contact with sharp, pointed, hard, coarse object	0 3.268		9 -	5 - 1.096	- 24	- 31	- 75	1 - 428	- 81	- 140	- 9	- 1:	2 - 1	1 - 33	- 337	- 95	- 2	1 - 9	- 10	30	-	-	3
Being pressed into, squeezed by/into, crushed, etc. including:	12 9.555			36 4 3.302									9 - 2		2 1.053					1		-	2 1 14
Being pressed, squeezed, crushed between Being pressed, squeezed, crushed in	4 4.622 3 2.946	- 34	4 - a -	19 - 1.617 12 2 1.032	- 31 - 19		- 684 - 445			- 100 - 107	- 26	1	7 -	9 - 45	2 564 - 286	- 138	- 20	0 - 12 4 - 12		- 39			1 - 49
Being pressed, squeezed, crushed under Acute excessive physical stress, acute excessive	5 1.404	3 18	8 -	4 2 459	- 10		- 229			- 18	- 5		4 -	4 - 13	- 145	- 39	- !	5 - 3	-	- 10	-		3
mental stress	0 8.068	- 52	2 -	23 - 1.690	- 77	- 87	- 1.65	4 - 1.038	- 622	- 303	- 55	- 4	6 - 5	B - 115	- 713	- 480	- 78	8 - 52	1 - 22	- 148	- 1	-	3 - 7
Excessive physical stress - musculoskeletal system	0 7.935	- 52	-1	23 - 1.661	- 77		1				- 55	- 4	3 - 5	B - 111	- 702	- 468	- 70	6 - 51		1	- 1	-	3 - 7
Bite, kick, etc. (by animal or person) Any other contact/type of injury not listed in this	0 1.453	- 26	6 -	1 - 56	- 12	- 5	- 47	7 - 103	- 164	- 125	- 9	-	5 - 1	0 - 35	- 166	- 160	- 2	8 - 35	62 - 63	- 53	- :	-	3
classification	1 85			11	- 2	- 1	- 10	6 - 15	- 5	1 4			1 -		- 4	- 10	-	1	4	. 1	-	_	
No data	2 1.076	- 15	5 -	3 - 262	- 4	- 2	- 21			- 67	- 7	- 1	0 -	5 - 20	- 109	1 46	- ;	8 - 4	10 - 31	- 8	- 1	-	1
Occupational accidents, total	73 92.311	8 794		225 14 22.235	1 658		13 18.04°		7 5.064					9 2 1.169			- 89				- 2	- 1	3 7 1.39
Occupational accidents men Occupational accidents women	71 70.292 2 22.019	7 682 1 112		218 14 19.469 7 - 2.766	1 624	l .		7 8 8.076 4 - 4.813			ı						- 48i	1		1] ·	1	7 7 1.00
Accident rate, total	2 22.019 0 325			7 - 2.766 392 0 393	- 34 0 294			4 - 4.813 5 0 24 9		- 2.459 0 274					1.020	- 2.437 0 218	- 40: - 20				- 17 - 60	- - 19	6 - 38
Accident rate, total	0 451	5 516		436 0 462	1 336	l .		1	I	1							- 27				- 92		1
Accident rate women	0 172			94 - 192	- 90	l .						-			- 246		- 15			1			

Source: AUVA

rding to AUVA classification not possible

Annex VII - Type of occupational illness - 2010 (including occupations)	atior	ıal il	lness	nun	nber	in	acc	orda	nce w	vith	article 17	7, aı	nne	x 1 of the AS	SVG);	gende	r	
			Agriculture and forestry;	fishing	Mining and quarrying		of confort sing	ivi ariutacturirig	Energy supply		water supply, sewerage, waste management and remediation activities	Construction		Wholesale and retail trade, repair of motor vehicles and motorcycles	Trasnportation and storage		food service activities	Information and communication
Annex 7 - Type of occupational illness - 2010 (including occupational illness number													S					
in accordance with Art. 177, Annex 1 of the ASVG); gender	Tota	ıl	A		В		(0	D		E	F		G	Н	1		J
Recognised occupational illnesses, total	46	1'446	-	17	1	11	7	402	3 1	4 -	11	6	179	2 80	- 2'	-	22	- 1
(BK-01) Illness caused by lead, its alloys, or compounds	-	1	<u>.</u>	-	-	-	2	-	_			-	- 12			-	-	
(BK-09) Illness caused by benzene, its homologous or styrene		1		н	171	-	-	196	+	-		3	100		170	90	-	
(BK-15) Illness caused by carbon monoxide	¥.	2	-	-2	12/1	-	4	(2)	₽		4	-	10-	- 2	121	4.2	-	
(BK-17) Skin cancer	14	1	-	-	-	_	÷	-	_		į.	-	1			4	-	4 4
(BK-18) Cancer or other neoformation of urinary tract caused by aromatic amines		2	10-1		171	-	-	rie-	+			-	-	т н	1 -1 11 25		-	
(BK-19) Skin diseases	2	209	1(4)	-2	121	-	4	39	¥		2	-	11	- 14	127	2	14	
(BK-20) Illness caused by tremor (pneumatic tools)	12	15	-	2	-	_	4	4	4		1	-	2	- 1	- 1	4	-	
(BK-23) Chron, illnesses of the bursae of the knees/elbows		4	20 - 1	-	-	-	-	100			1 50	8	3		1 -1 11 31	190	-	
(BK-25) Meniscous damage among miners	2	6	(-1	-2	12/	-	4	(2)	¥		12	-	1	- 2	12/1	4	-	
(BK-26a) Dust pneumonia silicosis/silicatosis	6	24	-	_	1	4	4	2	_			-	2	2 2			-	
(BK-26b) Dust pneumonia silicobuerculosis	1	5	10-1		1-11	1		1				8	10 0		170 0	-	100	
(BK-27a) Asbestos pneumoconiosis (asbestosis)	1	18	(-1	4	12/1	1	4	9	¥		2	-	10-	2 4	127 8	4 2	-	
(BK-27b) Malign neoformation of pleura, lung, larynx through asbestos	35	98	-	_	-	1	7	20	3	4 -	2	6	10	1 5	- 2	2 -	-	
(BK-28) Illness of deeper airways caused by aluminium or its compounds	970	1	10=1	-	-	-	7	IO S		-		3	-	7 5	1 7 10 01		-	
(BK-30) Illness of asthma bronch. caused by allergenes	2	82	-	2	12/	1	2	38	4		12	-	1	- 3	12/1	4	5	
(BK-32) Illness of teeth caused by acids	14	8	-	_		_	_	1	_			4	-	- 1		4	1	2 2
(BK-33) Hardness of hearing caused by noise	9	837	N=1	9	-	3	-	251	- 1	0 -	8		139	- 44	- 17	-	2	
(BK-37) Tropical diseases, typhus	2	2	1-1	-2	121	-	4	(2	¥		12	-	-	2 2	12/1 (4	4	-	
(BK-38) Infectious diseases	1	17	-	_	-	_	_	_	_			-	12			2	-	
(BK-39) Animal-borne diseases	59 0 5	1	10 0 1	-	170	0=	-	100		-		-			1710 01		-	
(BK-41) Illness of deeper airways caused by chem. irritating or toxic substances	μ.	101	(4)	-2	127	=	4	36	4		2	-	10	- 7	12/1	4	-	- 1
(BK-43) Exogenous allergic alveolitis	_	1	-	_	-	_	_	-	_			-		. 3		2	-	. 1
(BK-45) Adenocarcinoma of main nasal cavity, paranasal sinus from hardwood dust	1	7	100	-	171	-		1	-	-		8	19	1 1	1 -1 11 33	- 100	-	
(BK-46) Tick-borne diseases	4	7	54	4	145	34	2	PΕ	2	1	12		::2	14. 2	145. 3	2	-22	4 4
(BK-49) Illness caused by nickel or its compounds	_	1		-		_	-	-	-			-	72				-	
(General provision) Art.177, para.2 of the ASVG	1	1	1001	-	N=11	-	-	207	-	-		37	28		1 4 11 23		-	
Recognised occupational illnesses men	42	1'228	-	17	1	11	7	364	3 1	4 -	11	6	178	2 70	- 19	-	11	- 1
Recognised occupational diseaseswomen	4	218		-				38		-	-	_	1	- 10	- 2	2 -	11	

	Financial and insurance activities	Real estate activities	Professional; scientific and technical activities	Real estate activities	Public administration and defence, compulsory social security	Education	Human health and social work activities	Arts, entertainment and recreation	Other service activities	Private households with domestic staff, production of goods and provision of services by private households for their own requirements, without any special focus	Economic classification unknown; not existing; not relevant+)
Annex 7 - Type of occupational illness - 2010 (including occupational illness number											ono kno t rel
in accordance with Art. 177, Annex 1 of the ASVG); gender	K	L	М	N	0	Р	Q	R	S	T	
Recognised occupational illnesses, total	- 1		4 - 9	- 30	- 45	- 4	- 25	- 2	- 61	- 1	27 506
(BK-D1) Illness caused by lead, its alloys, or compounds		-								A .	- 1
(BK-09) Illness caused by benzene, its homologous or styrene	90 0 0 16		H H	Э. н	ie e		н -		(a) (a		- 1
(BK-15) Illness caused by carbon monoxide	15 E		e iar la		E 24		2 2	-	12/1 /2	2	
(BK-17) Skin cancer		-					1 -			A	- 1
(BK-18) Cancer or other neoformation of urinary tract caused by aromatic amines	1000		H HI S	E				191	1911 35		- 2
(BK-19) Skin diseases	- 17		4 12 m	- 5	- 7	- 1	- 11	(2)	- 44	4 4	- 62
(BK-20) Illness caused by tremor (pneumatic tools)		-					1 -		- 1	i de	- 3
(BK-23) Chron, illnesses of the bursae of the knees/elbows	1000	1	H Hell Co	E 7	ie is		7 T		180 3	. 	- 1
(BK-25) Meniscous damage among miners	12	-	4 147 4		E 74		<u> 1</u>	-	127 24	2	- 3
(BK-26a) Dust pneumonia silicosis/silicatosis		-			.7		1 5	-			5 16
(BK-26b) Dust pneumonia silicobuerculosis		1000	H 149 15	ie a	ie is			(4)	ler s	.5	1 3
(BK-27a) Asbestos pneumoconiosis (asbestosis)	17	-	4 14 K		12 72		<u> </u>	-	127 9	2	1 6
(BK-27b) Malign neoformation of pleura, lung, larynx through asbestos		-	1				1 3			A A	18 53
(BK-28) Illness of deeper airways caused by aluminium or its compounds	1070		H H H	E	e :		н т		1911 37	.9	- 1
(BK-30) Illness of asthma bronch. caused by allergenes	12		e iar - a	- 2	E 24		- 1	(2)	- 5	2	- 24
(BK-32) Illness of teeth caused by acids		-					1 3			A	- 3
(BK-33) Hardness of hearing caused by noise	- 1	-	3 - 5	- 20	- 31	- 3	- 2	- 2	- 4	- 1	- 282
(BK-37) Tropical diseases, typhus	12		g (2) - 4		ia 14		- 1	(2)	121 1	2 2	ia 24
(BK-38) Infectious diseases		-			- 2		- 6			A	1 9
(BK-39) Animal-borne diseases	98 8 9 18		1	8 -			H 17	191 19	190 (5		Sec
(BK-41) Illness of deeper airways caused by chem. irritating or toxic substances	12		1 - 2	- 3	- 3		- 2	-	- 6	2 2	- 28
(BK-43) Exogenous allergic alveolitis		-			- 1						
(BK-45) Adenocarcinoma of main nasal cavity, paranasal sinus from hardwood dust	93 5 6 18	-	H H H	Э т	T 3		- 1	-	1911 (9		- 4
(BK-46) Tick-borne diseases	92. T.	145	2027 2	- 1	- 1	12 12	- 1	566 92	1125 1	2	- 1
(BK-49) Illness caused by nickel or its compounds	-	-								ia a	- 1
(General provision) Art.177, para.2 of the ASVG	1999 B		H (H) (H	8 4			-	(4)	(4)		1 1
Recognised occupational illnesses men	- 1	- 1	4 - 8	- 27	- 35	- 3	- 4	- 2	- 8	a 1	24 439
Recognised occupational diseaseswomen		20.25	- 1	- 3	- 10	- 1	- 21		- 53		3 67

Annex VIII - Type of occupational illness - 2011 (including occupational illness number in accordance with Section 177, annex 1 of the ASVG); gender

Annex 8 - Type of occupational illness - 2011 (including occupational illness number in accordance with Section			Agriculture and forestry, fishing		Mining and quarrying		Manufacturing		Energy supply		Water supply; sewerage, waste management and remediation activities		Construction	Wholesale and retail	trade; repa vehicles an cycles	Transportation and	storage
177, Annex 1 of the ASVG); gender	_	Total	A		В		С		D		Е		F		G		Н
Recognised occupational illnesses, total	90	1'247	•	10	10 1	6	21 4	164	4 1	2	- 5	12	215	4	85	2	36
(BK-04) Illness caused by arsenic or compounds	=	1	-1	=	0 -	=	7 =	- i	5 - 5	-	1	-	1	-	14	38	5 -
(BK-08) Illness caused by chromium or compounds	-	1		-	17	77	10	-	1 -	-	15	7	-	7	× -	-	-
(BK-19) Skin diseases	-	148		1	-	-	-	37		-	- 1	*	12	-	16	-	-
(BK-20) Illness caused by tremor (pneumatic tools)	-	12	-	2	4	•	-	3	12	+	9	7	3	-			1
(BK-23) Chron. illnesses of the bursae of the knees/elbows	-	2	-	-	15	-	-	1-		-		*	1	-	18	-	-
(BK-25) Meniscous damage - miners	2	1	201	- 5	WE	2	12	102	11 ² 11	-	Y2 2	20	1	2	-2	-	94
(BK-26a) Dust pneumonia silicosis/silicatosis	9	28	-	-	5	8	7. 	1	70.00	=	(a) a	1	6	-	35	85	-
(BK-26b) Dust pneumonia silicotuberculosis	1	6	20	- 0	M <u>a</u>	٥	1	3	14 <u>1</u>	20	12 2	20	-	€.	12	92	-
(BK-27a) Asbestos pneumoconiosis (asbestosis)	4	14	=	7	2	2	1	5	in i	=	10	5	1	-) -	·	71 0
(BK-27b) Malign neoformation of pleura, lung, larynx through asbestos	71	123	2:	2	3	3	17	35	4	4	12	11	19	4	7	2	2
(BK-30) Illness of asthma bronch. caused by allergenes	50	56	₹.	-	10	-	-	33	15 1	-	15 5	-	2	-	10	-	1970
(BK-32) Illness of teeth caused by acids	-:	2	2	-	-	-	2	-	III E	2	2 2	-	=	~	1	-:	3-
(BK-33) Hardness of hearing caused by noise	-	761	<u>-</u>	6	15	3	- :	310	17	8	- 3	-	158	-	47	-	33
(BK-37) Tropical diseases, typhus	-	1	-	-	0 -	÷	-	1		-		-	-	-	-	940	30 4 3
(BK-38) Infectious diseases	2	12	E1	-	1.7		15	-	1.	=	16 8	-	-	-	, ,	-	-
(BK-39) Animal-borne diseases	-	1		-		-	i e	-		-		×	-	-	1-		-
(BK-41) Illness of deeper airways caused by chem. irritating or toxic substances	2	64	2	2	T u	-	2	34	19	-	1	2	8	-	4	-	-
(BK-43) Exogenous allergic alveolitis	-	1	2	-	(H	-	-	1		-		-	-	_	-		-
(BK-45) Adenocarcinoma: main nasal cavity, paranasal sinus from hardwood du	-	5	<u>6</u> .	٥	ME	_	×2	1	(E)	2	, i	2	1	4	1/2	_	92
(BK-46) Tick-borne diseases	-	3	-	1	(I 	-		1.5	n a n	-		-	-	-	-	(H)	-
(BK-49) Illness caused by nickel or its compounds	1	1	<u> 2</u> c.	0	×Ξ	_	16 <u>14</u>	12	XII X	10	×2	40	-	4	12	92	92
(General provision) Section 177. para. 2 of the ASVG	- :	4	-	-	1-	-	-	-	1.	-		-	2	-	,-	:	-
Cases of recognised occupational illnessesmen	81	1'105	4-	10	9 1	5	18 4	435	4 1	2 -	5	11	210	3	67	2	36
Cases of recognised occupational illnesseswomen	9	142	- n-		1	1	3	29		-		1	5	1	18		-

Annex 8 - Type of occupational illness - 2011 (including occupational illness number in accordance with Section 177, Annex 1 of the ASVG); gender	Accommodation and food service activities		Financial and insurance activities	Real estate activities		Professional, scientific and technical activities		Professional, scientific and technical activities	Public administration and defence, compulsory social security	ס Education		Human health and social work activities	Arts, entertainment and recreation		Other service activities		clas	unknown; not existing
Recognised occupational illnesses, total	•	21	- 2	•	5	3 16	2	36	3 52	•	4	- 1	1 - 3	3	- 50	6 2	9	198
(BK-04) Illness caused by arsenic or compounds		-		-	-		-				-	-		-	-	-	-	-
(BK-08) Illness caused by chromium or compounds	-	-		-			-	-		<u>.</u>							ė	1
(BK-19) Skin diseases		12		<u> </u>	•	- 2		8	- 4		-	- 1	5	-	- 43	3		7
(BK-20) Illness caused by tremor (pneumatic tools)	-	•		-	-		2	-	- 2	-	-	-		-	e 1	-	-	1
(BK-23) Chron. illnesses of the bursae of the knees/elbows	*			<u> </u>	•			-			-	-		-		-		1
(BK-25) Meniscous damage - miners	-	-		4	-	9 9	P		2 2	<u> </u>	-	2	0 x20	<u> </u>	2 1	2	<u>- 2</u>	16 <u>12</u>
(BK-26a) Dust pneumonia silicosis/silicatosis	-	-		•	-		-	. 1	- 1	-	-			-		-	3	11
(BK-26b) Dust pneumonia silicotuberculosis	-	12		2	-		2	s °	2	4	4	2	5 y2 5	<u>2</u>	2 1	2	42	3
(BK-27a) Asbestos pneumoconiosis (asbestosis)				-	•		ē	1		5	7.	7.				-	1	5
(BK-27b) Malign neoformation of pleura, lung, larynx through asbestos	-	-		-	1	3 4	2	3	2 2	2	2	2	2 2 :	2	-	- 2	3	43
(BK-30) Illness of asthma bronch. caused by allergenes	•	5		-	•			1		•	-	7			- /	4	-	1
(BK-32) Illness of teeth caused by acids	-	1		-	-		-	-	*	-	2	2	9 9 9	2	-	_	_	m2
(BK-33) Hardness of hearing caused by noise	-	2	- 1	-	4	- 10	-	21	- 33	-	4	- 3	3 - 3	3	- ;	3		109
(BK-37) Tropical diseases, typhus		-		-	-		×	-		*	+	-1	- 1	-		-	-	5-
(BK-38) Infectious diseases	-	•		-	-		-		1 8		<u>0</u> 1	- 3	2 -			-	1	2
(BK-39) Animal-borne diseases	*			<u> </u>	•			-	- 1		-	-	- 14	-		-	-	-
(BK-41) Illness of deeper airways caused by chem. irritating or toxic substances	-	1	- 1	-	-		- 2	1	- 1	33. (3)	-	-	1	-	- !	5	-	7
(BK-43) Exogenous allergic alveolitis				<u> </u>	-			-		•	-	-		-		-	-	95
(BK-45) Adenocarcinoma: main nasal cavity, paranasal sinus from hardwood du	-	2		-	-		2	9	2	<u> S</u> r	-	2	D 100 0	<u>0</u>	·2 /	2	<u>12</u>	3
(BK-46) Tick-borne diseases	•	-		-	-		-				÷	-	- 1-1	- //	-	1	-	1
(BK-49) Illness caused by nickel or its compounds	-	12		-	-		2	•	2	ů.	<u>a</u> .	2	5 x2 1	<u>S</u>	2 1	-	1	1
(General provision) Section 177. para. 2 of the ASVG		-			-			-	91 1	Ī.	-	Ī.		-		-	-	2
Cases of recognised occupational illnessesmen	-	13 -	1	2	5	3 15	2	: 30	3 46	-	4		4 - 3	3 -	(6 2	26	188
Cases of recognised occupational illnesseswomen		8 -	1			- 1	7	6	- 6	9 19		. ?	7	-	50	0	3	10

Annex IX

Crime statistics of the Austrian Police

Year 2009	Cases reported	Cases cleared up	Clear-up rates
§ 201 Penal Code			
(rape)	779	610	78.3%
§ 202 Penal Code			
(sexual coercion)	260	194	74.6%
§ 206 Penal Code			
(severe sexual abuse of minors)	253	246	97.2%
§ 207 Penal Code			
(sexual abuse of			
minors)	259	231	89.2%
Year 2010	Cases reported	Cases cleared up	Clear-up rates
§ 201 Penal Code	875	685	78.3%
§ 202 Penal Code	281	202	71.9%
§ 206 Penal Code	346	327	94.5%
§ 207 Penal Code	312	283	90.7%
Year 2011	Cases reported	Cases cleared up	Clear-up rates
§ 201 Penal Code	977	741	75.8%
§ 202 Penal Code	326	250	76.7%
§ 206 Penal Code	337	308	91.4%
§ 207 Penal Code	358	328	91.6%
Year 2012	Cases reported	Cases cleared up	Clear-up rates
§ 201 Penal Code	883	685	77.6%
§ 202 Penal Code	332	243	73.2%
§ 206 Penal Code	373	343	92.0%
§ 207 Penal Code	356	325	91.3%

CRIME STATISTICS OF THE AUSTRIAN POLICE

Criminal offences against sexual integrity and self-determination (§§ 201, 202, 205, 206, 207, 207b, 217 Penal Code) Evaluation of perpetrator-victim relationship

			Family				_
		Family	relationship	Relationship			
		relationship	without a	of	Chance		
Absolute		in a common	common	acquaintanc	acquaintanc		
figures	Total	household	household	e	e	Unknown	None
Year 2009	1.394	275	147	584	220	9	159

Absolute figures	Total	Family relationship in a common household	Family relationship without a common household	Relationship of acquaintanc e	Chance acquaintanc e	Unknown	None
Year 2010	1.756	354	205	732	225	28	212
Year 2011	1.882	419	217	801	200	29	216
Year 2012	1.879	392	224	822	212	20	209

Percentages	Total	Family relationship in a common household	Family relationship without a common household	Relationship of acquaintanc e	Chance acquaintanc e	Unknown	none
Year 2009	100.0%	19.7%	10.5%	41.9%	15.8%	0.6%	11.4%
Year 2010	100.0%	20.2%	11.7%	41.7%	12.8%	1.6%	12.1%
Year 2011	100.0%	22.3%	11.5%	42.6%	10.6%	1.5%	11.5%
Year 2012	100.0%	20.9%	11.9%	43.7%	11.3%	1.1%	11.1%